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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Board of Directors

Executive director

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond B8S JP (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Lee Man Bun

Mr Li King Wai Ross

Mr Tan Siak Him Alexander (resigned on 1 September 2007)

Non-executive director
Professor Poon Chung Kwong GBS JP

Independent non-executive director

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth

Mr Heng Kwoo Seng (resigned on 30 April 2008)

Company Secretary
Mr Cheung Kwok Keung

Registered Office
Century Yard

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Principal Office
5th Floor, Liven House
61-63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Principal Bankers
In Hong Kong:

Hang Seng Bank
Standard Chartered Bank
Citibank, N.A.

HSBC

In the PRC:

China Construction Bank
Agricultural Bank of China
Bank of China
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Auditor
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Bank of Butterfield International (Cayman) Ltd.
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street

P.O. Box 705

George Town

Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and
Transfer Office

Tricor Investor Services Limited

26/F Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

Website

http://www.leemanpaper.com
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Business Review

For the fiscal year of 2007/2008, the Group achieved a turnover
of HK$8,996 million and has recorded a net profit of HK$1,431
million. This represents an increase in turnover of 74.3% and
an increase in net profit of 41.7% over the same period last
year. These excellent achievements are the results of our added
capacities of PM9, PM10 and PM11, the increased tremendous
efforts by the management on the project execution and
supervision as well as the hard work of our managers and our
staffs.

Outlook

With rising energy costs and the global economies slowing
down, we will face more challenges in the coming year.
The management will make use of its experience to further
strengthen the Group by focusing on cost control, sales
network expansion, effective project management, and products
diversification. During the fiscal year 2008/2009, we will start
our first pulp production line in China (BHKP1), as well as two
more containerboard production lines (PM12 and PM13), which
includes our first containerboard production line in western
China at Chongging, will make contributions to our coming
profits.

Further, our Vietnam project of annual containerboard capacity
of 450,000 metric tons and annual bleached hardwood pulp
capacity of 150,000 metric tons is now under construction
and is scheduled to begin production within 2009. While the
construction has many difficulties, we believe our management
team is professional and has plenty of construction experiences
to overcome any problems that may arise. Despite the
currently short-term economics uncertainty in Vietnam, our
management still strongly believes the Vietnam project will
be a highly successful project for three main reasons. First,
Vietnam has excellent wood supply which is beneficial for
pulp production and there is not much competitors around.
Second, we can export out of Vietnam competitively in terms
of price and quality to Eastern Europe, the Middle East, and
Central America whereas we cannot export out of China
competitively due to the cancellation of the 17% tax rebate.
Third, ASEAN’s containerboard market demand is growing at a
rapid pace. The management believes once the Vietnam project
becomes operational, we will further achieve the market and
product diversifications; and the project will make important
contributions to the Group.
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With lower costs, more products to sell, more places to sell
to, as well as having a cooperative working team and honest,
responsible management, future profits growth is guaranteed,
and we will to share these profits with our shareholders and
intend to set a target dividend payout ratio of 25%.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wan Keung Patrick
Chairman

Hong Kong

17 July 2008
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SEE R E IS &

Results of Operation

Turnover and net profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2008 was HK$8,996
million and HK$1,441 million, representing an increase of
74.3% and 42.7%, as compared to HK$5,161 million and
HK$1,010 million, respectively, for last year. The basic earnings
per share for the year was HK127.22 cents when compared with
HK100.71 cents for last year.

The increase in turnover and net profit were mainly attributable
to the significant increase in the Group’s sales of containerboard
mainly due to the result of the commercial operation of the
PM8, PM9, PM10 and PM11 during the year.

Distribution and Selling Expenses and
Administrative Expenses

The Group’s distribution and selling expenses and administrative
expenses increased by approximately 85.2% and 44.5% from
HK$147 million and HK$234 million for the year ended 31
March 2007 to HK$272 million and HK$338 million for the year
ended 31 March 2008 respectively as a result of the expansion
in the operation of the Group and the increase in the Group's
turnover during the year.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs was HK$86.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2008 as compared to HK$82.5 million for the
year ended 31 March 2007. The increase was mainly due to the
increase in average amount of outstanding bank borrowings
during the year.

Inventories, Debtors’ and Creditors’ Turnover
The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 105 days and 11 days, respectively, for the year
ended 31 March 2008 as compared to 120 days and 13 days,
respectively, for the year ended 31 March 2007. This exhibits
continued strong demand from our customers.

The Group’s debtors’ turnover days were 69 days for the year
ended 31 March 2008 as compared to 58 days for the year
ended 31 March 2007. This is in line with the credit terms of
around 60 days granted by the Group to its customers.
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The Group's creditors’ turnover days were 37 days for the
year ended 31 March 2008 as compared to 49 days for the
year ended 31 March 2007 and is in line with the credit terms
granted by the Group's suppliers to the Group.

Liquidity, Financial Resources

and Capital Structure

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 March 2008
was HK$8,034 million (31 March 2007: HK$6,571 million). As
at 31 March 2008, the Group had current assets of HK$5,736
million (31 March 2007: HK$3,040 million) and current liabilities
of HK$4,371 million (31 March 2007: HK$1,748 million). The
current ratio was 1.31 as at 31 March 2008 as compared to 1.74
at 31 March 2007.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal
bankers in Hong Kong and the PRC. As at 31 March 2008, the
Group had outstanding bank borrowings of HK$7,101 million
(31 March 2007: HK$2,080 million). These bank loans were
secured by corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries
of the Company. The Group's net debt-to-equity ratio (total
borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents over shareholders’
equity) increased from 0.32 as at 31 March 2007 to 0.84 as at
31 March 2008 as a result of the capital expenditure spent on
PM8, PM9, PM10 and PM11 during the year

The Group’s liquidity position remains strong and the Group
possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to
meet its commitments, working capital requirements and future
investments for expansion.

The Group’s transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi or United States
dollars. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties
or effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations
in currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 March
2008. During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group
has used currency structured instruments, foreign currency
borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign currency
exposure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SEE R E IS &

Employees

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had a workforce of more
than 8,000 people. Salaries of employees are maintained at
competitive level and are reviewed annually, with close reference
to the relevant labour market and economic situation. The Group
also provides internal training to staff and provides bonuses
based upon staff performance and profits of the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with
its employees or disruption to its operations due to labour
disputes nor has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment
and retention of experienced staff. The Group maintains a good
relationship with its employees.

The Group has a share option scheme whereby employees of the
Group are granted options to acquire shares in the Company.

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2007/08 Annual Report
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The board of directors (the “Board”)
of the Company believes that sound and reasonable corporate
governance practices are essential for the growth of the Group
and for safeguarding and maximizing shareholders’ interests.
During the year under review, the Company has complied with
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver
sustainable value to Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive
Officer and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves
Board meeting agenda, and ensures Directors have proper
briefing, and timely receive adequate and reliable information,
on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief
Executive Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices.
Chief Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on
the day-to-day operations of the Group.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the
members of the Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry
by the Company that they have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2008. The Model Code also applies to other
specified senior management of the Group.
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Board of Directors
Composition and Role
The Board comprises:

Executive Directors:

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond BBS JP

Mr Lee Man Bun

Mr Li King Wai Ross

Mr Tan Siak Him Alexander (resigned on 1 September 2007)

Non-executive Director:
Professor Poon Chung Kwong GBS JP

Independent Non-executive Director:

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth

Mr Heng Kwoo Seng (resigned on 30 April 2008)

During the year, the Board comprises of five executive directors
(one of whom is the Chairman), one non-executive director
and three independent non-executive directors. The three
independent non-executive directors represent one-third of
the Board. In addition, three of the independent non-executive
directors possess appropriate legal, professional accounting
qualifications and financial management expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business
operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the
important function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for
an effective corporate governance framework. The Board
considers that each independent non-executive director is
independent in character and judgment and that they all meet
the specific independence criteria as required by the Listing
Rules. The Company has received from each independent non-
executive director an annual confirmation or confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
independent non-executive directors are explicitly identified in all
of the Company’s corporate communications.
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The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and
approving the agenda for each board meeting in consultation
with all directors. Notice of at least 14 days have been given to
all directors for all regular board meetings and the directors can
include matters for discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda
and accompanying board papers in respect of regular board
meetings are sent out in full to all directors within reasonable
time before the meeting. Draft minutes of all board meetings
are circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time
prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees
are kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings
and all directors have access to board papers and related
materials, and are provided with adequate information on a
timely manner, which enable the Board to make an informed
decision on matters placed before it.

During the year, full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:
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Number of board

meetings attended Attendance

HEESEE rate

Name of director EEEL EEYE HEE
Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick TEREE 5/8 62.5%
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond BBS JP 25X {& 5 4 BBS X F 41 7/8 87.5%
Mr Lee Man Bun FXOHFHE 5/8 62.5%
Mr Li King Wai Ross TIEESEE 5/8 62.5%
Mr Tak Siak Him Alexander PR5 5% o & 2/4 50.0%

(resigned on 1 September 2007) (B R2007%F9H1HE )

Prof Poon Chung Kwong GBS JP R B GBS KX Pt 3/8 37.5%
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony TRERLEE 4/8 50.0%
Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth ey N 5/8 62.5%
Mr Heng Kwoo Seng MERFELAE 4/8 50.0%

(resigned on 30 April 2008)
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its members
include:

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth

Mr Heng Kwoo Seng
(resigned on 30 April 2008)

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member
has broad commercial experience and there is a suitable mix
of expertise in legal, business and accounting on the Audit
Committee. The composition and members of the Audit
Committee complies with the requirements under Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference which describe
the authority and duties of the Audit Committee were adopted
in 2003 to conform to the provisions of the Code, a copy of
which is posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group’s
financial reporting and other information to shareholders,
the system of internal controls, risk management and the
effectiveness and objectively of the audit process. The Audit
Committee also provides an important link between the Board
and the Company’s auditors in matters coming within the
scope of its terms of reference and keeps under review the
independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters
including a review of the accounts for the year ended 31 March
2008.

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2007/08 Annual Report
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During the year, two Audit Committee meetings were held and
the individual attendance of each member is set out below:

FAHARMAEZZEEEH  BERIK
BMHREERFEINAT

Number of attendance

Name of member MEHA HRE R

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FREREA 3

Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth EiE/ N 3

Mr Heng Kwoo Seng MaELE 3
(resigned on 30 April 2008) (B R2008F4 A30H &)

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the
members include:

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth

Mr Heng Kwoo Seng
(resigned on 30 April 2008)

All members of the Remuneration Committee are independent
non-executive directors. The Remuneration Committee advises
the Board on the Group’s overall policy and structure for
the remuneration of directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee ensures that no director or any of
his associate is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee were
adopted in 2005 to conform to the provisions of the Code, a
copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such
as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and the desirability of performance-
based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance
of executive directors and certain senior management. One
Remuneration Committee was established in September 2005,
only one Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the
year and all members have attended in the meeting.
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Auditors’ Remuneration
For the year ended 31 March 2008, the auditor of the Company
only provided audit services to the Company.

Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal
controls of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The
Board is committed to implementing an effective and sound
internal controls system to safeguard the interest of shareholders
and the Group's assets. The Board has delegated to executive
management the implementation of the system of internal
controls and reviewing of all relevant financial, operational,
compliance controls and risk management function within an
established framework.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts
for each financial period which gives a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow
for that period. In preparing the accounts for the year ended
31 March 2008, the directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently; adopted appropriate
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Accounting Standards; made adjustments and estimates that
are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared the accounts
on the going concern basis. The directors are also responsible
for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group.
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Investor Relations and Communication

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information
about the Group’s performance to shareholders through the
publication of interim results and annual results in a timely
manner. In addition to dispatching circulars, notices and financial
reports to shareholders, additional information is also available
to shareholders on the website of the Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for
shareholders to raise comments and exchange views with the
Board. Shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general
meetings for which the Company gives at least 21 days’ notice.
The Chairman and Directors and external auditors are available
to answer questions on the Company’s businesses at the
meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings
on each substantially separate issue, including the election of
individual directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll
are included in the circular to shareholders dispatched together
with the annual report.
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Executive Director

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, aged 65, Chairman of the
Company and founder of the Group, is in charge of senior staff
recruitment, staff management, corporate strategy, building
construction and public relations for the Group in the PRC.
He has over 45 years of experience in manufacturing and
international trade. Mr Lee is the former standing member of
the Political Consultative Committee of Guangdong Province and
former chairman of Hong Kong Hainan Commercial Association.
He is now the honorary principal of the Qionghai Jiaji Secondary
School and Hainan Guoxing Secondary School. He has also been
awarded honorary citizenship of Dongguan.

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, 8BS, JP, aged 37, Chief Executive
Officer as well as founder of the Company, is primarily
in charge of corporate planning, investment projects and
acquisition of heavy production machines. Mr Lee has over
ten years of operational experience in paper manufacturing
and is experienced in professional formula of paper making
and product development. He holds a bachelor’s degree in
applied science from the University of British Columbia. Mr Lee
is currently involved in a number of public engagements. Mr
Lee has been awarded honorary citizenship of Dongguan and
reputational citizenship of Changshu. Mr Lee was the “Young
Industrialist Award of HongKong 2002" and “2003 Hong Kong
Ten Outstanding Young Persons Selection Awardees”. In 2005,
Mr Lee received the “Bronze Bauhinia Star” (BBS) from the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
and in 2007, he was appointed non-official Justice of the Peace
(JP). In 2008, Mr Lee was also appointed the 11th CPPCC
National Committee. Mr Lee is the eldest son of Mr Lee Wan
Keung Patrick.

Mr Lee Man Bun, aged 28, Executive Director and Assistant
General Manager of the Company, is responsible for production
management, research & development, repair and maintenance
of production machines and factory staff management. Mr
Lee holds a bachelor’s degree of Applied Science in Chemical
Engineering from the University of British Columbia in Canada.
He is the member of the Political Consultative Committee of
Guangdong Province and also the Vice Chairman of Yam Chai
Hospital Board of Directors. He joined the Group in July 2003.
Mr Lee is the youngest son of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick.
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Executive Director (Continued)

Mr Li King Wai Ross, aged 33, Executive Director and Assistant
General Manager of the Company, is responsible for the
daily factory management of Hangmen factory, purchasing of
recovered paper as well as maintaining relationship of various
government departments in Don guan. Mr Li holds a Masters
Degree in Science (Electrical Engineering) from Stanford
University in U.S.A. and a bachelor’s degree of Applied Science
(Computer Engineering) from University of British Columbia
in Canada. Mr Li has over 8 years of experience in production
management and in technological research & development. Prior
to joining the group, Mr Li was involved in the management of
computer graphics design at Sun Microsystems, Silicon Valley,
U.S.A. He joined the Group in December 2002.

Non-Executive Directors

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, GBS JP, aged 68, the non-
executive director of the Group, is currently the President of
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and has 40 years working
experience in educational sector. He was honoured as one of the
“Ten Outstanding Young Persons in Hong Kong” in 1979; was
appointed Non-official Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1989; received
the OBE in 1991 and the Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2002.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 65, an independent non-
executive Director of the Group, has been a practicing lawyer in
Hong Kong since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor
in England and Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs.
Hastings & Co., Solicitors and Notaries.

Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth, aged 59, an independent non-
executive Director of the Group, is the director of Park Hotel
International Limited, and previously the director of Laws
International Group Limited. She has over 33 years’ experience
in textile and garment industries and was responsible for the
management of the sweater and knitwear business. She has
also over 13 years’ experience in property investment and
development. She is the General Manager of Park Hotel and the
Director of a number of business enterprises, responsible for the
overall management and strategic planning of the businesses.
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Senior Management

Mr Hui Yick Kwan Tony, aged 50, the Head of Finance of the
Company, is in charge of corporate financial matters, investors
and bankers relations of the Group. Mr Hui holds a bachelor’s
degree in Commerce and a master’s degree in business
administration. Mr Hui is an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the CPA Australia
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He is a Certified Public Accountant Practicing
in Hong Kong and has more than 22 years of experience in
auditing, business advisory and financial management. He joined
the Group in November 2005.

Mr Wu Pak Ping, aged 42, is the general manager of the
Chongging Lee & Man and is responsible for the construction
of Chongging industrial park. Mr Wu holds a bachelor’s degree
in civil engineering from the University of Hunan is awarded the
professional title of “Senior Engineer” this year and has over 22
years of experience in planning and managing infrastructure. He
joined the Group in April 1997.

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 41, is the Chief Financial
Officer of the Group responsible for the internal supervision
and management of the Group’s financial matters and company
secretary of the Company. Mr Cheung is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 19 years of experience in the field
of auditing, accounting and financial management. Mr Cheung
holds a professional diploma in accountancy from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. He joined the Group in August
2002.

Mr Yan Jean Goo, aged 42, is the general manager of Guangxi
Lee & Man Forestry responsible for plantation management. Mr
Yan holds a bachelor’s degree in economics from the University
of Xiamen and has over 20 years of experience in production
and operation management. He joined the Group in November
2006.

Mr Chan Kong Sang, aged 48, is the project manager of
the Group responsible for all the mechanical and electrical
engineering projects. Mr Chan holds a bachelor’s degree of
science in engineering from the University of Hong Kong. Mr
Chan has over 25 years of operational experience in managing
production and engineering aspects of manufacturing businesses
and joined the Group in January 2001.

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2007/08 Annual Report

BREERE
MEBAE S0m ARAMBIHEIE A
BEAKEZARPBEER  REE RIRTH
BReFEERAREELEUNTIHEER
TR -FREBSIHMASESE  BAME
AR ERAHAREAMAGERE
B UWARBEEWNXSHM  BEA_+—-F
ZH - BEBERLMBEELR BER_-F
ERFT-AMAKREHR -

RSHERE QR AKFEEEIRAEL
2 AEREYBEIXE REEHBETEH
WMEARBELARIRIIXERARZE |22
L ARFEE[ERIEMIBE EFE -+
—HFEREE HEAREEZ&R - XN
NEFOAMARER -

REMEE MR AEEMBREFRAR
AZRARME  BEAKEZANMRER
RER - REERRELAREAMAEER
CENBEEGHMACEE  HEBATIAF
ZH - SR RVHEELR WEARAHE
IRBZEHEREXNR -BR_TZT_F)N
AMARER -

BEERSE 25 AfEELEXMEE
R BEEMEREI -BEEERAETE
EFRRERBEEELEN  HE _TFNE
E KERERER BN _ZETXRF+—
AMARER -

BRiIIERE B AEEBEAKE  B8F
FRERETIZ REEABEEERBIRERE
BB BER_THFERRNEXER
MEEMIREELR BR_TT—F—
AMARER -



Senior Management (Continued)

Mr Tse Pak Kong, aged 45, is the senior manager of the
Company, responsible for the global procurement of recovered
paper businesses. Mr Tse holds a bachelor’s degree of science
in electrical engineering from the University of Hong Kong. He
has over 21 years of experience in the management of both
multinational and local companies in China. Mr Tse joined the
Group in December 2005.

Mr Lau Kwok Keung, aged 51, is the executive manager of
Jiangsu Lee & Man responsible for the daily operation and
management of Jiangsu Lee & Man. Mr Lau holds a bachelor’s
degree of science (engineering) from Imperial College of Science
and Technology, University of London. He has over 20 years of
factory operation and management experience. He joined the
Group in July 2003.

Mr Tang Pok Man, aged 35, is the executive manager of
Vietnam Lee & Man responsible for the construction and
management of Vietnam industrial park. Mr Tang holds a
bachelor's degree in Commerce from the Concordia University
of Canada. He has 11 years of experience in production
management. He joined the Group in September 2005.

Mr Lu Man Sheng, aged 61, is a production manager of
Dongguan Lee & Man responsible for the management of paper
manufacturing. Mr Lu holds a professional engineer certificate
for paper manufacturing stock preparation from the Guangxi
School of Light Industry. Mr Lu has over 38 years of experience
in paper manufacturing and production management. He joined
the Group in May 1994.

Ms Lam Sau Ping, aged 39, is the sales manager of the Group
responsible for sales and marketing. Ms Lam holds a higher
certificate in marketing and sales management from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. Ms Lam has over 18 years of work
experience in sales and marketing. She joined the Group in
March 1996.
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Senior Management (Continued) BREER(H)

Mr Chan Chi Ho, aged 39, is a production manager of the MREZREE 395 AKETHITHEEL
Jiangsu plant, responsible for paper production managementand £ BEEMRLEEENTIEEHE - REL
engineering matters. Mr Chan has over 19 years of experience #HAB TN FEREEREM TELR - &
in overseeing production matters in the paper manufacturing R —AANFHAMAREE -

business. Mr Chan joined the Group in April 1999.

Mr Wu Xiao Shi, aged 41, is the power plant manager of the REEMELE - 4151 ARERBUHUE - A
Group responsible for management of power production. Mr BEENEEREESFH - RAEFKAFTER
Wu holds a bachelor's degree in engineering from Dongnan FMASREMAESH HTRESLEM - HEHE
University. Mr Wu has over 19 years of experience in power THAFBENEEREELR - FR— NN
production management. Mr Wu joined the Group in December FHZAMARER -

1999.

20

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2007/08 Annual Report



The directors present their annual report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2008.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2008 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 32.

The directors of the Company recommend the payment of a
final dividend of HK$0.10 per share for the year ended 31 March
2008 to the shareholders whose name appear on the register
of members on 1 September 2008, amounting to approximately
HK$114 million, subject to the approval of the shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Share Capital
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and
equipment at a cost of approximately HK$4,318 million for the
purpose of expanding its business. Details of this and other
movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Directors and Directors’ Service Contracts
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors

Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)

Lee Man Chun Raymond, BBS JP (Chief executive officer)
Lee Man Bun

Li King Wai Ross

Tan Siak Him Alexander (resigned on 1 September 2007)

Non-executive director
Professor Poon Chung Kwong, GBS JP

Independent non-executive directors
Wong Kai Tung Tony

Law Kar Shui Elizabeth

Heng Kwoo Seng (resigned on 30 April 2008)

In accordance with Articles 86(3) and 87(1) of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Professor Poon Chung Kwong and Ms
Law Kar Shui Elizabeth retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick and Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond have
each entered into service agreements with the Company for an
initial period of three years commencing 1 September 2007,
which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by
either party by three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Lee Man Bun has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 16
August 2007, which will continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party by three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Li King Wai Ross has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial period of three years commencing
12 August 2005, which will continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party by three months’ prior written notice.

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive
directors is the period up to his/her retirement as required by the
Company'’s Articles of Association.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
And Short Positions in Equity or Debt
Securities

As at 31 March 2008, the relevant interests or short positions
of the directors or chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") which are required to
be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO) or were required pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or
were required, pursuant to the relevant provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) relating to securities transactions by directors
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as
follows:

Long positions
(a)  Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

EERIETHAERBRAH
BERSPHENEERRA

R-ZZFTZNF=ZA=+—H ARFAIEESF
FEBTBRABEARAKEABEE (E
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TR WD HERDERESS  B#EXL
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Number of Percentage of

ordinary shares the issued

subject to share capital

Number of options granted  of the Company

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares BRUWBRER GAXTI2HT

EEHA 5% LTERYE SRHEERYE BRAES

Lee Wan Keung Patrick Held by controlled corporation (Note) 715,661,200 — 62.92%

FiE B EHDEERER ()

Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner — 492,000 0.04%
FXE EREAA

Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner — 300,000 0.03%
QS EnfEBA

Li King Wai Ross Beneficial owner — 600,000 0.05%
TR EREEA

Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 150,000 480,000 0.06%
BRI BERmEAA

Wong Kai Tung Tony Beneficial owner 400,000 — 0.04%
FRER EmEE A

Heng Kwoo Seng Beneficial owner 820,000 — 0.07%
i) EREAA

Note: These shares were held by Gold Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold MizE : % %5 IR 17 3 Gold Best Holdings Ltd.

Best”). Gold Best is a controlled corporation of Mr Lee Wan
Keung Patrick under the SFO. The entire issued share capital
of Gold Best is owned by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, Mr Lee
Man Chun Raymond and Mr Lee Man Bun (all of them are
directors of the Company). Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick and
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, both of whom are directors of
the Company, are directors of Gold Best.
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(b)

Save as disclosed above and other than certain nominee shares
in subsidiaries held by certain directors in trust for the Company,
none of the directors or chief executives or their associates
had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated

Ordinary shares of the associated corporation of the (b)

Company

ZANNCIVEL PN OB

Percentage of
the issued share
capital of

Name of the associated

associated Number of corporation

Name of director Capacity corporation ordinary shares {HiEBiEE 2 & T

EERA 5 # HEGEE AR LTERHA BRARE DL

Lee Wan Keung Patrick Beneficial owner Gold Best (Note) 51 51%
FiER BEmlEEA (KE3E)

Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner Gold Best (Note) 29 29%
FX & ERBEAA (HaE)

Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner Gold Best (Note) 20 20%
= ERER A (HEaE)

Note: Gold Best is an associated corporation of the Company

under the SFO. The entire issued share capital of Gold Best
is owned by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, Mr Lee Man Chun
Raymond and Mr Lee Man Bun (all of them are directors
of the Company). Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick and Mr Lee
Man Chun Raymond, both of whom are directors of the
Company, are directors of Gold Best.

corporations as at 31 March 2008.
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Share Options
Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in
note 29 to the financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share
option scheme during the year:

e
AR BREFENFBHARNYBEHRRWE
29 ¢

THREBEBEARANFEFABRESAE T 2

2

Number of shares of the Company
to be issued upon exercise of the share options

REREETERET
BITHALARMEE
Exercise
price Outstanding Outstanding
pe share at 1 April at 31 March
B8R 2007 Exercised Cancelled 2008
Date of TEE Exercisable Z—ZEZLHE during during ZZEFE/)\&F
Name grant HK$ period A—H the year theyear =A=+—H
kL BEHAH T TiEH i R AT ERITE FERH i AT
Category I: Directors
B—E EF
Li King Wai Ross g 23.12.2005 8.50 23.12.2005 to 600,000 — — 600,000
22.12.2008
Lee Man Chun F& 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2008 to 492,000 — — 492,000
Raymond 31.21.2010
Lee Man Bun 308 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2008 to 300,000 — — 300,000
31.21.2010
Tan Siak Him BRi5E 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2008 to 600,000 — — 600,000
Alexander 31.21.2010
Poon Chung &R 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2008 to 480,000 — — 480,000
Kwong 31.12.2010
Category II: Other employees
E_E: g8
Employees (=221 23.12.2005 8.50 23.12.2005 to 900,000 (900,000) — —
22.12.2008
Employees B8 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2008 to 3,156,000 — (360,000) 2,796,000
31.12.2010
Employees [==] 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2009 to 300,000 — — 300,000
31.12.2010
Total FEE 2y 6,828,000 (900,000) (360,000) 5,568,000

The closing prices of the Company’s shares on the dates of grant

were HK$8.50 and HK$15.10.

AEHBPEEBARAIKRE 2T E A850
BT K 15108 7T °
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Directors’ Rights To Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above, at
no time during the year was the Company, its holding company
or any of its fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debts securities (including debentures) of, the Company or any
other body corporate and none of the directors, their spouses
or children under the age of 18, had any rights to subscribe for
securities of the Company, or had exercised any such rights.

Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 2008, the following persons (other than
directors or chief executives of the Company) had interests or
short positions in the ordinary shares of the Company which fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO:

Long positions
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

EEBERMIESHEN

BEXTEIRE] —SmmEEIN  ARA -
HERAR HEMREMB QA LHEA
B 7 B (L fo] B 8 B30 4 BT SCAEART 2 B - BUE
ARBEEFAEBKEARRBIEME X
ABRBOENHRERES (BREEER) ME
BAles  MBEEFAWREFNEBIIBEHENUT
M FRMERRBAREESFHEMNER
TNEIT AR R FHER

FTERRE

RZZEZENF=ZA=1+—08 " TIA(EKRF
EEHFBTHRAERIN ERXRAINEER
THAERBEESLERAIETERE2RE
3PMHMERAMAN A BWENERIAR
YRR 757 M B E 16 0 32336 R MY R 7E B A 8%
RARBERZGEENETLMAB R ESIOX
e

A
KRG AR EIEO. 105 7T 19 2 33 R

Percentage of
the issued
share capital

of the company

Number of issued
ordinary shares held

Name of shareholder Capacity BEBEET mEALARBEIT

EEps &% LTaREA BEAE

Gold Best Beneficial owner 715,661,200 62.92%
E=HmEA

Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (Note) 715,661,200 62.92%

FEER BREEEE (M)

Note: Under the SFO, Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested ~ Mt @ RIEBEFHFRBMEGEH - AR FTEEBEF

in these 715,661,200 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Lee
Wan Keung Patrick, a director of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2008, the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.
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Appointment of Independent

Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The
Company considers all of the independent non-executive
directors are independent.

Connected Transactions

Details of the discloseable connected transactions for the year
are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
In the opinion of the independent non-executive directors, these
transactions entered into by the Group were:

(i)  in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i)  either (a) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there
is no available comparison, on terms that were fair and
reasonable so far as the shareholders of the Company are
concerned;

(iii) either (a) in accordance with the terms of the agreements;
or (b) where there are no such agreements, on terms no
less favourable than those available to or from independent
third parties; and

(iv) within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions
which are required to be disclosed as connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

BIAFHNITESE

REEAHARIMBR AR LHARAE33
- ARBRBEBUBILIFRATEETALAR
ABEFEZBIE  ARRARRMEB
MIFMTTESRHERBIAL -

ER 5
AEEMNATEREBREXISFRHARGKEEYH
BHmAMES - BUFRTEFTR R BA
SEFTYNERRS

TR AKENBEE R —MREBFBERA]
aE

() T — MR R EHORTT ¢ b)Y 3L
ERAHILRE - AR AR TR
EBAT A R

(i) Ty(a)iR W0p ek IR FRET L 5 S(b) fisd B 7% 5 1
@ AR BERGETEYE=FXBYL
F=EREEREIL - &

(v PIpRkEBILB|BHEBIAEENE
B LRS-

BEXPHBEEN  UEREMNEMRHEAR
RETRANOREERBEEIZREHFE -
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Directors’ Interest in Contracts

Save as disclosed under the heading “Connected Transactions”,
there were no contracts of significance to which the Company,
its holding company or any of its fellow subsidiaries and
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers were approximately 60% of the
Group's total purchases and the purchases attributable to the
Group’s largest supplier were approximately 35% of the Group’s
total purchases.

The aggregate sales during the year attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers were less than 10% of the Group’s total
sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which,
to the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share
capital of any of the five largest suppliers of the Group.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of

The Company’s Listed Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

Sufficiency of Public Float

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the
year ended 31 March 2008.
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Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

Emolument Policy

The Group remunerates its employees based on their
performance, experience and prevailing market rate. Other
employee benefits including insurance and medical cover and
share options are also provided.

The determination of emoluments of the directors of the
Company has taken into consideration their expertise and job
specifications.

Donations
During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$654,000.

Post Balance Sheet Event
Details of the significant post balance sheet event are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

Auditor

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting of
the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wan Keung Patrick
Chairman

Hong Kong

17 July 2008
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Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEE & MAN PAPER

MANUFACTURING LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee
& Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 32 to 127, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 March 2008, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cashflow statement for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to
the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March
2008 and of the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

17 July 2008
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

mellmE®

For the year ended 31 March 2008 & Z =ZFEZENF=HA=+—HIFE

2008 2007
—EFN\E —EEEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7E FiET FHT
Revenue e A 5 8,996,113 5,160,552
Cost of sales =R DN (6,843,488) (3,799,101)
Gross profit EF 2,152,625 1,361,451
Other income H g A 221,099 112,072
Net (loss) gain from fair value changes E#TAFHE T A AFEE
of derivative financial instruments EAERE(EE) SR8 (177,552) 31,103
Distribution and selling expenses DHEHNMHEER (272,326) (147,029)
Administrative expenses 1THEH (338,313) (234,127)
Share of losses of associates JE {H Bt i 2 B B 18 1) =
Finance costs B 75 B 7R 6 (86,386) (82,465)
Profit before tax % %4 51 22 F1) 1,499,146 1,041,005
Income tax expense FIEH = 7 (68,026) (30,894)
Profit for the year FEAF 8 1,431,120 1,010,111
Attributable to: FE1L -
Equity holders of the Company ANElk=ERA A 1,441,329 1,010,204
Minority interests D E R (10,209) (93)
1,431,120 1,010,111
Dividends f% 8 11 409,233 395,541
HK cents HK cents
1] Bl
Earnings per share FAKAEF 12
- Basic — &R 127.22 100.71
— Diluted — ¥ 126.66 98.55
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2008 2007
—EFEN\E —EEEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B =E F#&xT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENMEE 13 10,005,464 5,524,620
Prepaid lease payments TEfF &K E 14 323,705 316,831
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEWE - BEEXER
property, plant and equipment =+ ik A R P A
and land use rights HikA 15 918,844 931,536
Interests in associates Bt N Bl R 2 16 = =
Deferred tax assets RIETRIE & &= 25 29,796 31,707
Retirement benefit assets RIREFEE 27 728 682
11,278,537 6,805,376
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Inventories T8 17 2,499,167 1,379,159
Prepaid lease payments TE T ERE 14 17,045 14,982
Trade and other receivables U E 5N E MR 18 2,727,887 1,373,692
Amounts due from associates JiE U Bt & R R 3R I8 19 141,936 -
Amount due from a related company FEUR B B3 R R B 20 6,516 12,743
Derivative financial instruments PTEBBEITA 22 25,224 42,310
Restricted bank deposits B R FIER1TER 21 489 1,953
Bank balances and cash RITHEHREIRE 21 318,188 214,985
5,736,452 3,039,824
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEBAE
Derivative financial instruments PTHEMKIA 22 192,544 12,104
Trade and other payables ENE S REMERRK 23 1,391,649 890,483
Tax payable FE I Hi 18 5,452 20,718
Bank and other borrowings WITREMEE 24 2,781,310 824,762
4,370,955 1,748,067
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEBEEFE 1,365,497 1,291,757
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT & EEERR
LIABILITIES = 12,644,034 8,097,133
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Derivative financial instruments PTHEKIA 22 162,307 =
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 24 4,319,534 1,255,600
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIBAE 25 108,470 46,932
Convertible bonds Al R E 5 26 = 205,364
Retirement benefit liabilities RABNEE 27 19,414 18,536
4,609,725 1,526,432
8,034,309 6,570,701
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

REEERER

At 31 March 2008 —EZENF=F=+—H

2008 2007
—EFN\E —EEAF

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7E THET FABIT

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRARE

Share capital fi& A< 28 113,738 111,948

Reserves 1 7,930,873 6,458,846

Equity attributable to equity holders of %7 55 /8B A A Bl i &

the Company BAEA 8,044,611 6,570,794
Minority interests & (10,302) (93)
Total equity 4B = 8,034,309 6,570,701

The consolidated financial statements on pages 32 to 127 were F£R2EZEFNR7TEMANGEE T BHRERE N =
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on ZTZENF+ A+ HKLEF S /E RKET

17 July 2008 and are signed on its behalf by: ZWHNIESREES:
Lee Wan Keung Patrick Z= &34 Lee Man Chun Raymond Z 3 1%
Chairman = & Director & &

34
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FAAREHEARLK
Convertible
bonds Share Capital Legal Special
equity  options contribution reserve reserve
Share Share reserve reserve Translation  Hedging (Notei)  (Noteii)  (Noteii)  Retained Minority Total
capital  premium  WHEESE O BRE  reseve  reseve E2ER AEAEE  HABE  profis Total interests equity
B RHEE EERG BE  ERRE  HekE  (BE) (M) (W& 2EEA @k  JBRE RE4E
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
ThT ThT T TEn T T T T ThT T ThT T T
A1 April 2006 ot ¢
HA—A 9%,761 1,863,819 60,256 1,573 48,984 - - - (2999) 1,508,650 3,577,044 - 3,577,044
Exchange differences arising B B EHE

on translation of foreign ~~ FELZEL

operations ] = = - - 144,887 - - - - - 144,887 - 144,887
Proft for the year ZEE - - - - - - - - - 1010204 1010204 ©) 100,11
Total recognised income and £ E B B2 WA

expenses for the year REZ@E - - - - 144887 - - - - 1,010,204 1,155,091 (93) 1,154,998
Exercise of share options BB RIEEFTfE 582 25,531 - (561) - - - - - - 25,552 - 2555
Conversion of convertible ATk E%

bonds % 6,605 782,129 (47,921) - - - - - - - 741413 - 741,413
Placing of new shares ER 8,000 1,451,823 - - - - - - - - 1459823 - 1459823
Equity-settled share based Rz & it

payments FE - - - 7412 - - - - - - 7412 = 7412
Divdends paid (note 11) & (H3E11) - - - - - - - - - (3%541)  (395541) - (34
At 31 March 2007 ZRRLE

=A=t-H 111,948 4,123,902 12,335 8,424 193,871 = = - (2999 2123313 6,570,794 (93) 6,570,701
Exchange differences arising 1850 £ 75 # B

on translation of foreign BEEZER

operations 28 - - - - 386,254 - - - - - 386,254 - 386,254
losson cash flow hedges B4 REHHER - - - - - (183,067) - - - - (183,067) - (183,067)
Profit for the year EERA - - - - - - - - - 1441309 1441329 (10209 1,431,120
Total recognised income and £ 2 EZZ A

expenses for the year RExes = = = = 386,254 (183,067) = = - 1441329 1644516 (10,209 1,634,307
Exercise of share options BRERTE 90 10,962 - (3,402) - - - - - - 7,650 - 7,650
Conversion of comvertible AT fE%

bonds % 1,700 218,081 (12,335) = = = - - - - 207,446 - 207,446
Transfer to legal reserve BRTHRENES - - - - - - - 49 - (49) - - -
Equity-settled share based Rz & RS

payments FE - - - 10,886 - - - - - - 10,886 - 10,886
Capital contrbution from &K ERAT

ultimate holding company &%

(note 32) (W&32) - = = - - - 15 - - - 15 - N
Dividends paid (note 11) ~ iE& (K1) - - - - - - - - S 093)  (409,233) - (09233)
At 31 March 2008 i i

=B=t+-AH 113,738 4,352,945 - 15908 580,125 (183,067) 12,55 49 (2999)  3,155360 8,044,611 (10302) 8,034,309
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
i ey LB
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For the

Notes:

(iii)

year ended 31 March 2008 #IF=ZZFN=FA=1—HILFE

The capital contribution was arisen from the disposal of
subsidiaries to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group’s ultimate
holding company. Details of the disposal of subsidiaries are set
out in note 32.

In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial
Code, the Company’s subsidiary in Macau is required to transfer
a minimum of 25% of the annual net profit to a legal reserve,
whenever dividend is declared by the subsidiary, until the reserve
reaches half of the capital of the subsidiary. This reserve is not
distributable to the shareholders.

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired by the Group pursuant to the corporate reorganisation in
September 2003, and the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued for the acquisition.
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2008 2007
—ZEE)N\E —TTAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FE T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXH
Profit before tax Tt A 2 7 1,499,146 1,041,005
Adjustments for: BUAT&IBIAE
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments T8 14 70 & 510 % 5 19,139 3,099
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BERZEZ
equipment e 268,086 151,767
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEVME  BERKBEE
equipment 2 B8 166 234
Share of losses of associates B & A R ES B D L 1 =
Interest income A B U A (6,609) (4,136)
Net loss (gain) from fair value changes RTEMBE T A A FEEEE
of derivative financial instruments EERFEE(Bm) 177,552 (31,103)
Retirement benefit expense RIKEFF 832 1,022
Share-based payments A& #E 2 4 518 10,886 7,412
Finance costs B 75 B AR 86,386 82,465
Operating cash flows before movements LEESEHINCERS
in working capital e 2,055,585 1,251,765
Increase in inventories ZEXmn (1,075,168) (590,625)
Increase in trade and other receivables FEURE 5 BR Tk K2 E th BR ZR 32 AN (1,467,679) (478,287)
Decrease in amount due from a related FEU B BEER R FIA
company o 6,227 9,277
Decrease in derivative financial instruments #7481 7% T B2 (786) =
Increase in trade and other payables JE 15 BR SR % H At BR 338 A0 424,185 553,270
Cash generated from operations KEEBEEANRS (57,636) 745,400
PRC Foreign Enterprise Income Tax paid BB SR (28,344) (16,059)
Overseas income tax paid SAEINABT (61) -
Interest paid B F & (231,357) (84,852)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING REEm (A RBHNEE
ACTIVITIES FE (317,398) 644,489
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

n‘/-.r\/\IErﬁ/)“.’E%

For the year ended 31 March 2008 #If —ZEZFTNF=A=+—HIFFE

2008 2007
—EFN\E —ETLF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 T#ET FAIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREFD
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE BEREKE
equipment (3,239,714) (1,751,756)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BB &Y% - ME L&E X
plant and equipment and land T R E] &
use rights (918,844) (931,536)
Prepaid lease payments TEIA %ﬁ)’( (80,816) (145,452)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB R 32 (29,862) =
Repayment from associates Eﬁ%%@ﬁ%%’\ 47,591 -
Interest received B U A2 6,609 4,136
Decrease (increase) in restricted bank EBE%‘J%E?‘H? KO
deposits () 1,634 (845)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant HE¥ - BERREE
and equipment KA 66 52
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING BREFHBANREEE
ACTIVITIES (4,213,336) (2,825,394)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES A& & B
New bank and other borrowings raised ¥ &£ #R17 & Hfth & X 9,688,177 4,587,477
Net proceeds from issue of shares BITRMOAFTERIAFEE 7,650 1,485,375
Repayment of bank and other ERIRT REMERK
borrowings (4,648,151) (3,406,640)
Dividends paid EfIRE (409,233) (395,541)
(Decrease) increase in bank overdrafts  $R77:E % G d) £ 0 (12,045) 11,541
NET CASH FROM FINANCING METIMEREFH
ACTIVITIES 4,626,398 2,282,212
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH R&E&RBRE%ZEY
EQUIVALENTS 8 IR 95,664 101,307
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BERBREEEYWAE
BROUGHT FORWARD 4t 8k 214,985 110,317
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE EXSHZHE
CHANGES 7,539 3,361
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERBEE&EEY
CARRIED FORWARD Ff
represented by bank balances and cash #R17488 KIS 318,188 214,985
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General

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2007
Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its parent and ultimate
holding company is Gold Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”),
a private company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
The address of the registered office and the principal place
of business of the Company is disclosed in the Corporate
Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 38.

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first
time, the following new standards, amendments and
interpretations (the “new HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA"), which are effective for the Group’s financial
year beginning 1 April 2007.

HKAS 1 (Amendment)  Capital Disclosures
HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures
HK(IFRIC) - Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2

Reassessment of Embedded
Derivatives

Interim Financial Reporting
and Impairment

HKFRS 2 — Group and
Treasury Share Transactions

HK(IFRIC) - Int 9

HK(IFRIC) - Int 10

HK(IFRIC) - Int 11

— &R

ARRIREMABRAR  RZTET=
TR+ BREBERASHESRRDA(
ZELER)PAASEHEKRILIRERR
BHREERRAAE  ROVTREABER
SHBRAR (B £ o Q7]
R B #8478 % /A 5] 72 Gold Best Holdings Ltd.
([GoldBest]) - m—HIRNEBRELEHS
MK FLART o AR A MIEE
BRAREE MR AFERAGTER
WHKEE -

4

RGEMBHRRABITLINE  BLTR
ARBZYEEEH -

ARAE-—HREERAR ST EM
BRAMETEXBHNP B HRRME
38

ERAHMRERETZEEMBEHREE
Al

RAFEE  AEBEEXERATIBEES
S ASHBEMZFEL - BT KB
E([HEaBYBRELER])  ZFEA
R2007F4 B 1BRAMKZ 2 BB ERR -

ERGAMENZ 1R (KEF]) EXKE
ERAMBREEANETR MBEIA - BE
R (ARMBERERE  ZEMBEHER
ZEE) REFH F2RAH

R (ARMBHRERE  ERRE(IEIA
Z88) REZIT
R (ARMBHRERE  +HYBERER

Z8g) 2EZ10% R

R (ARMBRERE  ZEMBREER
ZEE) REENR F2H—KER
BEBERHZS
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Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(Continued)

The Group has applied the disclosure requirements under
HKAS 1 (Amendment) and HKFRS 7 retrospectively. Certain
information presented in prior year under the requirements
of HKAS 32 has been removed and the relevant
comparative information based on requirements of HKAS 1
(Amendment) and HKFRS 7 has been presented for the first
time in the current year.

Except this, the adoption of the new HKFRSs has had no
material effect on how the results and financial position for
the current or prior accounting years have been prepared
and presented. Accordingly, no prior year adjustment has
been required.

The Group has not early applied the following new, revised
or amended standards and interpretations that have been
issued but are not yet effective.

Presentation of Financial Statements'

Borrowing Costs'

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidation’

Share-based Payment:
Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations'

Business Combination”

HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 &
HKAS 1 (Amendments)
HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments'
HK(IFRIC) - Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements3

HK(IFRIC) - Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes*

HK(IFRIC) - Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a
Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements
and their Interaction’

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

F O N
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Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(Continued)

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the
accounting for business combination for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting treatment for
changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control, which will be accounted
for as equity transactions.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the other new, revised or amended standards
and interpretations will have no material impact on the
results and the financial position of the Group.

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and included applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved where the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated income statement
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with those used by other members of the Group.

BERFTREEIZEEMBREE
Rl (&)

KREBMIEHRE LR EIRAI e &
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ZHEEFEREHFAR 2 AR
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HoERAMENBYEAEE EER
BT RS AR, ©

ARRAFEEFAHRERD I FH REERT X
Rz EARBRER TS U AKEERE
RABRAERBEALE -

FTEEABR
REMBRREELRANERE - KR
RFEFEZETHHETARI  FR
TXZEFHE -

GARBRENEREERIMAS
B2 EBH AR - RO AR
BHED BERRH Em BRI EhR
BIRESAAGAFRESTATRE
BH -

REE#%
RAEBRERBINALFRLEMBE L
M IERE - EFIRAAAEREEE
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated on
consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original
business combination and the minority’s share of changes
in equity since the date of combination. Losses applicable
to the minority in excess of the minority's interest in the
subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to
cover the losses.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held
for use in the production of goods or for administrative
purposes, other than freehold land and construction in
progress, are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than freehold land
and construction in progress over their estimated useful
lives, and after taking into account their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.

Freehold land is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses and is not depreciated.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the consolidated income statement in the year in which
the item is derecognised.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an
interest in a joint venture.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, investments in associates are carried in the
consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets
of the associates, less any identified impairment loss.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An
additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of that associate.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on
the balance sheet when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’'s financial assets are classified into one of
the two categories, including loans and receivables and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. At each balance sheet date
subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, amounts due from
associates, amount due from a related company, restricted
bank deposits and bank balanced and cash) are carried at
amortised cost using effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment on financial assets below).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The Group’s financial assets classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are derivatives that are not
designated and effective as hedging instruments.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets other than those at fair value through
profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment
at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been impacted.

For loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group's past
experience of collecting payments and observable changes
in national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date of the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the
Company are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in
respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments are set
out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The Group’'s financial liabilities classified as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are derivatives
that are not designated and effective as hedging
instruments.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair
value recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss excludes any interest paid on the financial liabilities.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables, and bank and other borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain
liability, conversion option and early redemption option
(which is not closely related to the host liability component)
are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is classified as an equity instrument. At the
date of issue, both the liability and early redemption option
components are measured at fair value. The difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible
bonds and the fair values assigned to the liability and early
redemption option components respectively, representing
the conversion option for the holder to convert the bonds
into equity, is included in equity (convertible bonds equity
reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible loan notes is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The early redemption
option is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

The equity component, representing the option to
convert the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible bonds equity reserve
until the embedded conversion option is exercised in
which case the balance stated in convertible bonds equity
reserve will be transferred to share premium. Where the
conversion option remains unexercised at the expiry date,
the balance stated in convertible loan notes equity reserve
will be released to the retained profits. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the conversion option.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Convertible bonds (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability, equity and early
redemption option components in proportion to the
allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the early redemption option
are charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs
relating to liability component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible bonds using the effective interest
method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet
date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and
effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the
timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the
nature of the hedge relationship.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivatives host contracts
are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host
contracts and the host contracts are not measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3. EZEEEBUR (&)

Financial instruments (Continued) MEITAR(Z)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued) PTAEB BT AR (&)

Hedge accounting EaPR- P

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging AREBEEXETAEATAERYHAIE -

instruments for cash flow hedges.

H T’Efﬁﬁméﬁ/* °

At the inception of the hedging relationship the entity REHRBEERZ S - E’%%EB??QFPIE
documents the relationship between the hedging ML ERIAE AR - RETS B
instrument and hedged item, along with its risk RHZEABEBEERER E% o fEAh -

management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether the hedging instrument that is used
in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting
changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item.

Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualified as cash flow

REDPFRAMBRFEEELTHE - K
SEEBARETERCHPTARS
ESEAMMEHEEENEENQTE
SBREREELD -

B mE LT
BEMTAREREREREH P 2ITE
TARFEES HARFHBRTERHE

hedges are deferred in equity. The gain or loss relating to #= o HEME S 2 BENERIB R AR
the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit 7 o

or loss.

Amount deferred in equity are recycled in profit or loss in EWREHPEERERANERE  BELER
the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit s e BAlTEZBEZ BEAEHNE
or loss. R o

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes EASEBEREEEFR HAHATASE

the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires
or is sold, terminated, exercised, or no longer qualified for
hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferred
in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised
when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in
profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was
deferred in equity is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets
are transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised directly in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold in the normal course of business, net of

S

FEEFBRE)

L PN

WAT 1z B Yk A E 2 AFER
B UHER-—BEBEETHEEML
FEU & B8 - BTN R iH SRR R R A

s

discounts and sales related taxes. = °
Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are HEEMBRARERNERBEEREER
delivered and title has passed. REERR o

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount.

Income from sale of steam is recognised upon the provision
of the steam.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an
incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leasing (Continued)

Leasehold land

Interest in leasehold land is accounted for as operating
leases and amortised over the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
plans, state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are
charged as an expense when the employees have rendered
the services entitling them to the contributions.

For defined retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing
benefits is determined using the projected unit credit
method, with actuarial valuations being carried out
annually. All actuarial gains and losses of defined benefit
plans are recognised immediately in retained profits in the
period in which they occur. Past service cost is recognised
immediately to the extent that the benefits are already
vested, and otherwise is amortised on a straight-line
basis over the average period until the amended benefits
become vested.

The amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
represents fair value of the plan assets as adjusted for
unrecognised actuarial gains and losses, and as reduced
by the present value of the defined benefit obligation.
Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to
unrecognised actuarial losses and past service cost, plus the
present value of available refunds and reductions in future
contributions to the plan.

Equity-settled share based payment transactions

The Group has applied HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
to share options granted on or after 1 January 2005. In
relation to share options granted before 1 January 2005,
the Group chose not to apply HKFRS 2 with respect to
share options granted and vested prior to 1 January 2005.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3. EZEEEBUR (&)
Equity-settled share based payment transactions UREHEEREITZXS
(Continued) (&)

Share options granted and vested prior to ZEERF—A—HFRHE
1 January 2005 BB BRI

The financial impact of share options granted is not
recorded in the consolidated financial statements until
such time as the options are exercised, and no charge is
recognised in the consolidated income statement in respect
of the value of options granted. Upon the exercise of the
share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded as
additional share capital at the nominal value of the shares,
and the excess of the exercise price per share over the
nominal value of the shares is recorded as share premium.
Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to their exercise
date are deleted from the register of outstanding options.

Share options granted and vested on or after

1 January 2005

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve).

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately
vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates during the
vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated income statement because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and
is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to
profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged or
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also dealt with in equity.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (“foreign currencies”)
are recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-
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monetary items that are measured in terms of historical BIEKEBBRAEHHRE o
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary REERBMEERBRERELECER £

items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2007/08 Annual Report

0 4k
BN REELMEARBRRPHER



Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the balance sheet date, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component of
equity (the translation reserve). Such exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the
foreign operation is disposed of.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

Fair values of derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate
swaps, Cross currency interest rate swaps, currency
structured instruments and commodity swaps are carried
at the balance sheet at fair value, as disclosed in note
22. The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an
active market, where quoted prices are not available for a
particular financial instrument, the Group uses the market
values determined by counterparty financial institutions to
estimate the fair value. The use of methodologies, models
and assumptions in pricing and valuing these financial
assets and liabilities is subjective and requires varying
degrees of judgement by management, which may result in
significantly different fair values and results.

Business and Geographical Segments
Business segments

For management purposes, the Group is currently
organised into two operating businesses — manufacture
and sales of paper, and manufacture and sales of pulp.
These businesses are the basis on which the Group reports
its primary segment information.
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Business and Geographical Segments
(Continued)
Business segments (Continued)
Segment information about these businesses is presented

5 EBHRMESE(E)

EBOE(E)
ZEBEOBEREZROT

below:
2008 —EFN\E
Income statement W as &
Paper Pulp  Eliminations Consolidated
%3k N il &5&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET THT
REVENUE ON
External sales YONEE 8,403,963 592,150 — 8,996,113
Inter-segment sales EB2AHEE - 382,002 (382,002) -
8,403,963 974,152 (382,002) 8,996,113
SEGMENT RESULTS PEEE 1,611,175 74,147 - 1,685,322
Net loss from fair value changes RITEHBITARTE
of derivative financial instruments HEELNFER (177,552)
Unallocated corporate incomes AABEZARKA 81,280
Unallocated corporate expenses AABZARZ M (3,517)
Share of losses of associates R E N R EE (1)
Finance costs B 76 R (86,386)
Profit before tax TANE A 1,499,146
Income tax expense FEREY (68,026)
Profit for the year REFHH 1,431,120

Note: Inter-segment sales are charged at prices with reference to
the prevailing market rates.
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5. Business and Geographical Segments
(Continued)

5. EBHRMESE(E)

2008 (Continued) ZEENE(E)
Assets and liabilities BENERE
Paper Pulp Consolidated
4R K% SE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T#ERT T#ERT TFET
ASSETS 'E
Segment assets DEEE 15,672,449 333,074 16,005,523
Unallocated corporate assets RO ZRRIEE 1,009,466
Consolidated total assets RAEREE 17,014,989
LIABILITIES =K
Segment liabilities DEAE 700,024 47,719 747,743
Unallocated corporate liabilities K22 AE&E 8,232,937
Consolidated total liabilities REBBEE 8,980,680
Other information H fth & ¥
Paper Pulp Consolidated
ik V3 o=y
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FHET FET
Amortisation of prepaid TE {5 78 & SR IE
lease payments 19,139 — 19,139
Capital expenditure EAMY H 4,240,308 77,995 4,318,303
Additions to prepaid FIANTENHERE
lease payments 80,816 — 80,816
Deposits paid for acquisition BEYWE  BE K
of property, plant and % Kot b fE R AE
equipment and land use rights  Fift&I & 918,844 — 918,844
Depreciation of property, M BE X
plant and equipment REIE 256,816 11,270 268,086
Loss on disposal of property, HEDE  BMEK
plant and equipment RBELERNER 166 — 166
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5.

Business and Geographical Segments

5 EBHRMESE(E)

(Continued)
2007 —ETtE
Income statement a5 %
Paper Pulp Eliminations  Consolidated
i A & )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL FHEL T THL
REVENUE WA
External sales HONEE 4,730,597 429,955 — 5,160,552
Inter-segment sales ES - YARE:E= — 434,349 (434,349) —
4,730,597 864,304 (434,349) 5,160,552
SEGMENT RESULTS PEER 1,002,291 44,143 - 1,046,434
Net gain from fair value changes RITEMBIENTE
of derivative financial instruments HEELNTFNE 31,103
Unallocated corporate incomes AABZARMA 48,691
Unallocated corporate expenses N WA/NG g (2,758)
Finance costs ISR AR (82,465)
Profit before tax TAD & A 1,041,005
Income tax expense HERRL (30,894)
Profit for the year KEE RN 1,010,111

Note: Inter-segment sales are charged at prices with reference to
the prevailing market rates.

M EBZHBEERZ2EEREMHERK

HY ©
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5. Business and Geographical Segments 5 E#HRuiESE8 (&)

(Continued)
2007 (Continued) —EELE(E)
Assets and liabilities BERAE
Paper Pulp Consolidated
(i N RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAIT
ASSETS BE
Segment assets DEEE 9,063,956 196,537 9,260,493
Unallocated corporate assets Aoz RAREE 584,707
Consolidated total assets REBEE 9,845,200
LIABILITIES =R
Segment liabilities NDFEEE 480,671 29,783 510,454
Unallocated corporate liabilities &2 %2 ArAE 2,764,045
Consolidated total liabilities REBAaE 3274 ACK,
Other information H B
Paper Pulp Consolidated
Ao N RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAET
Amortisation of prepaid 8 5 78 & )0 6
lease payments 3,099 — 3,099
Capital expenditure BARMES H 1,902,717 59,072 1,961,789
Additions to prepaid FIATENEERE
lease payments 145,452 — 145,452
Deposits paid for acquisition BEWE BEK
of property, plant XA R - Hb {5 A
and equipment and FrfdaT &
land use rights 931,536 — 931,536
Depreciation of property, M - BERERETE
plant and equipment 147,063 4,704 151,767
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BEK
plant and equipment REEARNER 234 — 234
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Business and Geographical Segments
(Continued)

Geographical segments

The following table provides an analysis of the Group's
sales by geographical market based on location of
customers, others mainly include countries in Asia other
than PRC.

R R MIE S AR ()

b 5 53 AD

TRERMERTISRIEE P AR S
DASEEENDN  EEEEHESR
B LASM BB SR

Sales revenue by
geographical market

% it & T 15
o EWRA
2008 2007
ZEFNE —EEAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THE T THT
People’s Republic of China FEARKLRME - HAEBRIN
other than Hong Kong (the “PRC") (T ) 7,686,882 4,322,930
Europe BOM 374,210 180,001
United States of America EH 84,597 65,514
Others Hih 850,424 592,107
8,996,113 5,160,552

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of
segment assets and capital expenditure, analysed by the
geographical area in which the assets are located:

REEMERROTN D BEEEREE
NEAMREZWT

Carrying amount of
segment assets

Capital expenditure

NEMEEREME BEAMERX

2008 2007 2008 2007

ZEFEN\E —TETLF | ZEENE —ETLF

PRC s 15,242,809 9,056,798 4,178,226 1,902,495
Vietnam [AEs] 424,154 — 62,068 —
United States of America EH 333,075 196,537 77,995 59,072
Hong Kong B 5,485 7,158 14 222
16,005,523 9,260,493 4,318,303 1,961,789
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6. Finance Costs 6. HBHAE
2008 2007
—EEN\E —ETLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FHT
Interest on bank borrowings wholly RAFHNEBEHEEZ
repayable within five years RITEERE 220,742 84,852
Interest on convertible bonds AR EH 2 F 8 2,082 45,771
Interest on notes payable ENREZHNE 10,615 -
Total borrowing costs EEE KA 233,439 130,623
Less: Amounts capitalised in property, WE:WE - BE REE
plant and equipment ZER & FE (147,053) (48,158)
86,386 82,465
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year are calculated FRNERNEZEERRAEG EIEEERH
by applying a capitalisation rate of 5% (2007: 6%) to ST ZEREES%(ZEELF  6%)
expenditures on qualifying assets. FTE o
7. Income Tax Expense 7. FIEHRAX
2008 2007
—EEN\E —ETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
The charge comprises: MIBRX B :
Current tax BB FIE
— PRC Foreign Enterprise Income Tax — N ERER 14,997 24,912
— Overseas income tax —BINERB R 61 —
Overprovision in previous year EFBRERE
— PRC Foreign Enterprise Income Tax —hEINE D ETER (3,721) —
Deferred tax (note 25) EERIE (MFE25) 56,689 5,982
68,026 30,894
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7.

Income Tax Expense (Continued)

The Group's profit is subject to taxation from the place of
its operations where its profit is generated. Taxation arising
in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in
the relevant jurisdictions.

The subsidiaries in the PRC are entitled to exemption from
PRC Foreign Enterprise Income Tax for two years starting
from their respective first profit-making year, followed by a
50% relief for the three years thereafter (“Tax Holiday").

The first profit-making year of a subsidiary, Jiangsu Lee &
Man Paper Manufacturing Company Limited (“Jiangsu Lee
& Man"), was the year of 2005. Accordingly, tax exemption
period of Jiangsu Lee & Man expired during the year
ended 31 March 2007 and it is now subject to a reduced
tax rate of 12.5% for the relief period. Beside, pursuant
to approvals granted by the PRC tax authority, Jiangsu
Lee & Man was granted tax credits that resulted from the
purchase of plant and equipment manufactured in the PRC
by Jiangsu Lee & Man. Current year’s tax charge of Jiangsu
Lee & Man was fully offset by such credits.

The Tax Holiday of a subsidiary, Dongguan Lee & Man
Paper Factory Co., Ltd. (“Dongguan Lee & Man") expired
during the year ended 31 March 2006 and it is now
subject to a preferential tax rate of 18% because approval
was obtained from the PRC tax authority as it was qualified
as a technologically advanced enterprise in the Guangdong
Province.

All the Group’s other PRC subsidiaries were within the tax
exemption period during the year ended 31 March 2008
and were therefore not subject to PRC Foreign Enterprise
Income Tax.

On 16 March 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law
of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “Tax Law")
by Order No. 63 of the President of the PRC. On 6
December 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued
Implementation Regulations of the Tax Law. The Tax Law
and Implementation Regulations will increase the tax rate
for the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to 25% with effect from
the expiry of the Tax Holiday period and in the case of
Dongguan Lee & Man, on a progressive basis over a period
of five years.

PB4
SEZMBOREEMNBEENE EM
TR IR o B e BE R B AR TR IR (E

PlEBEE 2 R RFAELT -

NP EEMERARRE R & EEMNF
B 2EPEIBLEMSHME -
HE=F+2([HREEZE] -

W%ﬁﬂﬂ*ﬁiL%ﬁ@@ﬂﬁiﬁ
B ) EEENFER=_STAF - §
gt - J%ﬁxm%%%%amai:z
TZ+F—A=+—HIEFEARBSH H
BERREHEMI125% 2 B 2T XK o
BEo - AR ¥R AR B B A M BE AT HEE - T AR
A B B P B W S KRR T
RIRGER o LEEXREEZFHMN
NHEAERZESRZEIES -

MEBARIREENEABABERAR (TR
SEX]HNEHRBERBE_ZEZ
FZA=+—BHLEFERNIH - ARE
EEXAEREANGEBNTER TP
¥ FE b m AP B R S R S B
AZH18%HERRE -

BE_ZZENF=ZA=+—BHILEE
W AEBEHEGE S EMER RS 2E
EREBHREH  FitBAGRTE
SNEIRFAERH

R-ZFZTLF=A+ARAB FEUFTEH
TRSESBRBMEXEMEHIE( R
ED  R-ZZBZELF+T_AXAE
BB A BORAITRE] o BOERATT
RO AEEZPENBEARZH
KE25% ° #ﬁ%@ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
MR IE 2 B AR L R R
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Income Tax Expense (Continued)
The subsidiary in Malaysia carries on offshore trading
activities in Labaun, with other group companies which
are non-residents of Malaysia. As such, it is qualified as an
offshore trading company in Labaun and is charged at a
fixed annual rate of Malaysian RM20,000.

The Macau subsidiaries incorporated under Decree-Law
no. 58/99/M are exempted from Macau complementary
tax (Macau income tax) as long as they comply with the
relevant regulations and do not sell their products to a
Macau resident.

The subsidiary in the United States is subject to Federal
Income Tax and California State Income Tax (collectively
refer to as “US Income Tax") at rates of 35% and 8.84%,
respectively. No provision for US Income Tax has been
made for the year as the assessable profit of the United
States subsidiary is wholly absorbed by tax losses brought
forward. However, a minimum tax charge of US$1,600
(equivalent to HK$13,000) is recognised for the year under
the requirements of the California State Income Tax Law.

The Vietnam subsidiaries are subjected to Vietnam
Corporate Income Tax at a maximum rate of 28%. No
provision for Vietnam Corporate Income Tax has been
made for the year as the Vietnam subsidiaries incurred
losses for the year.
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Income Tax Expense (Continued)

7. FIEHEAZE)

The income tax expense can be reconciled to the profit FMEBHAIRBREBEZROAZNEER
before tax per the consolidated income statement as I
follows:
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FHT
Profit before tax FR 3% B & 7 1,499,146 1,041,005
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 18% REARE18%
(2007: 18%) (ZETLF: 18%)5tE
B A IR 269,846 187,381
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR HBE A S B s v 2
for tax purpose 53,694 19,731
Tax effect of income not taxable EARDTHBANBBLE
for tax purpose (18,772) (11,119)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ﬂiﬁﬁ?& MIEEENRETE 31,639 2,141
Effect of tax exemption granted BETHEBRARERRE
to certain subsidiaries V& (264,066) (177,366)
Effect of different tax rates of ETRREEREER
subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions [ & 2 51 8 A~ R # =
=" (594) (3,015)
Increase in deferred tax liability resulting BMEREHEHET
from change in tax rate Bt B A Bl 2 IEIE R IR
of certain subsidiaries BEEM = 13,141
Overprovision in previous year EFEBERE (3,721) _
Income tax expense R 15 %1 B 2 68,026 30,894
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8. Profit for the Year 8. HERT
2008 2007
—_EFEN\E —ETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Profit for the year has been arrived at £ /& & M & 1 -
after charging:
Directors’ emoluments (note 9) E=Me (FF:E9) 8,265 7,603
Staff salaries and other benefits, BIfeRkEMET -
excluding those of directors NEIEES 314,612 244,759
Share-based payments, VA B # 52~ 5008 -
excluding those of directors NEIEES 8,224 4,807
Contributions to retirement benefit RREFET IR
schemes, excluding those of directors TBEES 14,070 11,476
Total employee benefit expense B IR AR 345,171 268,645
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments & 1< 78 & 7% 18 # 4 19,139 3,099
Auditors’ remuneration % 26N B & 2,953 2,117
Cost of inventories recognised as TFERAERE
expenses 37 it 6,843,488 3,799,101
Depreciation of property, plant and M - HE &&E
equipment e 268,086 151,767
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HE¥WE BE X
equipment RBELENEE 166 234
Operating lease rentals in respect of THREFHLEHEE
land and buildings He 8,535 9,335
and after crediting (in other income): W EFA (EMKA) :
Compensation income from suppliers HEEMERER{EZ
for damaged goods B (E A 22,049 35,807
Interest income FEMA 6,609 4,136
Income from operating a pier BT A 21,301 3,011
Net foreign exchange gains HER G & 74,671 44,555
Rental income, net of direct outgoings & A - BEE S H 390 390
Tax credits (Note) A E e (M) 37,826 =
Note: Tax credits were granted to Dongguan Lee & Man during Mz ARASEZBEMFMER - KR

the year ended 31 March 2008 as the Group has reinvested
directly the profits generated from Dongguan Lee & Man
into Dongguan Lee & Man by increasing its registered
capital.
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9. Directors’ Emoluments 9. EFME \
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2007: FEXNABNGENAUES(ZFTTL
nine) directors were as follows: FN)HMMESWOT
Other emoluments
Hitf &
Salaries  Contributions
and other  to retirement Share-based
benefits benefit schemes payments
Fees &R RIFER BRHEL T Total
ok HiniE# Sl 2B &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TEx T THT
Year ended ZEZ)\£E=H
31 March 2008 =+-AZEE
Executive directors HTEE
Lee Wan Keung Patrick TER = - - - -
Lee Man Chun Raymond Xk - 2,800 12 969 3,781
Lee Man Bun E3QrS - 1,727 12 591 2,330
Tan Siak Him Alexander (note i) B8 (Kizi) - - - - -
Li King Wai Ross EX (4 - 840 12 156 1,008
Non-executive director FHITEE
Poon Chung Kwong BTN - - - 946 946
Independent non-executive BUIHT
directors EZ
Wong Kai Tung Tony TRE 80 - - - 80
Heng Kwoo Seng (note ii) Ma& (KEi) 120 - - - 120
Law Kar Shui Elizabeth BEE - - - - -
200 5,367 36 2,662 8,265
Year ended “TEt+EZA
31 March 2007 =t+-AZFE
Executive directors HITEZE
Lee Wan Keung Patrick FER
Lee Man Chun Raymond X = = = = =
Lee Man Bun F X, - 2,016 12 552 2,580
Tan Siak Him Alexander (note i) FR#5& (FizEi) - 1,002 12 337 1,351
Li King Wai Ross Fie - 1,066 = 674 1,740
- 678 12 503 1,193
Non-executive director FHiTER
Poon Chung Kwong AR
- - - 539 539
Independent non-executive BUIHT
directors EZ
Wong Kai Tung Tony TRE 80 - - - 80
Heng Kwoo Seng (note ii) MaE (M) 120 - - - 120
Law Kar Shui Elizabeth BEiE - - - - -
200 4,762 36 2,605 7,603
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 #Z—=—ZTZNF=HA=+—HI-FE

10.

Directors’ Emoluments (Continued)

For the two years ended 31 March 2008, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation
for loss of office. None of the directors has waived any
emoluments during the two years.

Notes:
(i) Mr Tan Siak Him Alexander resigned on 1 September 2007.

(i) Mr Heng Kwoo Seng resigned on 30 April 2008.

Employees’ Emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2007: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 9 above. The
emoluments of the remaining three (2007: two) individuals
were as follows:

10.

EsMe(#)
BHE_ZZNF=ZA=+—RBHZMF
N AEEYLESMEAME TESS
FHEMANEMAEERRIER/REER
MAEZHE - EMFRABEMNESEN
W -

f 3

() RBBXEER-TTLFAA—A
BHE -

() MHBELREER-TEAFMA=+
HBHE -

EEME

rEEESMEe AL AL  EPBL
—ETLEF D) RARRES AN
EERERMFIRE - HSA=fU AL
“EELF D)ZMET

2008 2007
—sT\f | —TTtF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT T T
Salaries and other benefits Fe kHEMEF 4,923 3,459
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes iR K42 Fl 51 2l 3¢ 36 24
Share-based payments S 4 A5 X 312 761
5,271 4,244

The emoluments were within the following bands: ESHMEN T TIER -

Number
ANE

2008 2007
ZEE)N\E —ETHF
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T — 1,500,0007% 7T 2 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% JT — 2,500,000 7 7T 1 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% JT — 3,000,000 7% 7T - 1
3 2
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11.

Dividends 1. B2
2008 2007
ZEENE —EELF
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#&xT FET
Dividends recognised as distribution: 7] Z R E DB AT
2007 final dividend of HK$0.20 TR FRERPKREE
(2007: 2006 final dividend of f%0.20/8 T (ZEE4F
HK$0.24) per share —ETRNFREME 02475 7T) 227,316 233,294
2008 interim dividend of HK$0.16 —EE)NFREFEKRE G
(2007: 2007 interim dividend of 0168 TL(ZZEZELF :
HK$0.16) per share T FHHRKRE016ETT) 181,917 162,247
409,233 395,541

A final dividend of HK$0.10 (2007: HK$0.20) per share has
been proposed by the Board of Directors of the Company (the
“Board”) and is subject to approval by the shareholders in
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ARREFE ([EFE])Z2F RN K
PR B ERR010E T (=
L) MAFBRREEREBRRBEFAE
EFRBLERTAIER -

TERLF 02085

=
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12. Earnings Per Share
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the equity holders of the Company is based
on the following data:

12. 8RERN
FARAESRHAANSREAREE
BATIAT I 8RB EEE -

2008 2007
—EENE —ETLEF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHT
Profit for the year attributable to equity R FIERIFTEANFR
holders of the Company lbE 1,441,329 1,010,204
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary TERE RS
shares: 2
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESH T E 2,082 45,771
Gain from fair value change of AMBREFASITELA
derivative embedded in the NEEEEMEER
convertible bonds S 3) (1,197)
1,443,408 1,054,778
2008 2007
—ETN\E ZETLF
Number of Number of
Shares Shares
e R B 5 1 H
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ RAGTEERERZFIH
shares for the purpose of basic =il Qi
earnings per share S5 g 1,132,949,789 1,003,067,042
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary TERBETEE
shares: S22
Share options i A 2,655,629 1,497,334
Convertible bonds TR ES 3,949,263 65,731,279
Weighted average number of ordinary  Fl AT & & I #55 & 5 &)
shares for the purpose of diluted AR hnE
earnings per share 2 35 8 1,139,554,681 1,070,295,655
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment

13. WE -BERRE

Furniture
fixturesand  Leasehold
Freehold equipment improve- Plant and
Land Construction ~ Computer B ments Motor  machinery
WkA%#HE  Buildings  inprogress System HRkE HEWE vehicles BER Total
Bzt £ ERIR EHEE Rt B3 RE Ha @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TAT TEL TR TEL TR ThL TR TAT
CosT BA
At 1 April 2006 ) = 10,309 553,888 1,033,826 14,282 26,928 95,884 22,647 2,149,928 3,907,692
Currency realignment EBENAL - 21,267 40,564 571 913 3,623 605 85,513 153,056
Additions BE — 70,241 1,188,108 — 10,575 16,307 7,698 668,860 1,961,789
Transfers 4 - 339,404 (1,531,784) - 5517 86,706 — 1,100,157 —
Disposals k3 — - - - (59) - (195) (317) (571)
At 31 March 2007 Z3%tF
=A=1+-H 10,309 934,800 730,714 14,853 43,874 202,520 30,755 4,004,141 6,021,966
Currency realignment ERENEA — 83,703 56,688 — 3,108 16,885 1,763 344,044 506,191
Additions RE - 60,081 3,559,577 - 15,721 14,344 9,792 658,788 4,318,303
Transfers &3 — 361,251 (2,236,184) 4,085 4,347 95,354 2,288 1,768,859 —
Disposals & = = - - (342) - - (161) (503)
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMBAE] = — (10,546) - (3,103) = (5,025) (3,534) (22,208)
At 31 March 2008 “ZEN\E
=A=1t-H 10,309 1,489,835 2,100,249 18,938 63,605 329,103 39,573 6,772,137 10,823,749
DEPRECIATION ihE
At 1 April 2006 Z5E,55mA-A — 79,479 — 119 9,237 8,789 8,620 226,448 332,692
Currency realignment ~ SBEFHAAR - 3,168 - 3 310 346 m 9,036 13,165
Provided for the year FREE = 34,213 — 1,457 5549 8583 4138 97,827 151,767
Eliminated on disposals (i &K £ 48 = = = = (19 = (194) (65) (278)
At 31 March 2007 “ERLE
=h=1-H — 116,860 — 1,609 15,077 17,118 12,836 333,246 497,346
Currency realignment ERBHES — 12,679 — — 1,277 2137 988 37,112 54,193
Provided for the year ERNEE = 53,160 — 1,485 8,577 14,531 5,558 184,775 268,086
Eliminated on disposals ~ (t &B ¥ #8 = = = - (239 = = (36) @n
Eliminated on disposal ~ (H & KB A A 24
of subsidiaries - — — — (223) — (520) (326) (1,069)
At 31 March 2008 —ZT)\%
ZA=t-H — 182,699 — 3,094 24473 34,386 18,862 554,771 818,285
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2008 “2E)\F
=h=1+-H 10,309 1,307,136 2,100,249 15,844 39,132 294,717 20,711 6,217,366 10,005,464
At 31 March 2007 “BRLE
=A=1+-H 10,309 867,940 730,714 13,244 28,797 184,802 17,919 3,670,895 5,524,620
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 13. W% - BERHREE)

74

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment other than freehold land and
construction in progress over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

FRAAFBI R ERTERMN W
BiE R HEBRBEFRGEEE KB
A F4F 8 DA B AR A BT IR T B DA MBH AR
A FERMT

Buildings 5% 5 5%
Computer System 10% B ARG 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% i BEEERZE 20%
Leasehold improvements over the shorter of the HEMEREE THEIZK 15%

lease terms or 15% (ABREERBE)
Motor vehicles 20% HE 20%
Plant and machinery 31/5%—-20% 5 Bt 23 315%-20%

Freehold land is not depreciated.

The carrying values of land and buildings of the Group
comprises:

IKAXERB 2 L TENE -

AEBz T REEMEEERR

2008 2007

—ZEF)N\E ZETLF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFH&xT T T

Freehold land in the United States of America MZEB 2k A ¥ #EHH + i 10,309 10,309

Buildings on freehold land in MEBAKAERFES

the United States of America T EZEF 17,250 17,135
Buildings on lands under medium-term lease FAH B LA —TE R HAFA € 49

in the PRC Tih P EF 1,289,886 850,805

1,317,445 878,249

Certain buildings of the Group are erected on lands in the
PRC with respect to which the Group has not been granted
formal title of ownership. At 31 March 2008, the carrying
value of such buildings amounted to HK$370,501,000
(2007: HK$377,174,000). In the opinion of directors, the
absence of formal title to these buildings does not impair
the value of the relevant buildings of the Group. The
directors also believe that formal title of these buildings will
be granted to the Group in due course.
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14.

15.

Prepaid Lease Payments 14.
The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold
lands held under medium-term leases located in:

BEREERE
AEERNEAERRBETHROTZ
THMEEMR

2008 2007
—ZEEN\E —ETHF
HK$000 HK$'000
F#HET FATT
PRC = 304,926 331,813
Vietnam ] 35,824 —
340,750 331,813
2008 2007
ZEENE —EELF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
F#xT FiE T

Analysed for reporting purposes as: WERBMEZ DT
Non-current asset ERBEE 323,705 316,831
Current asset MEEE 17,045 14,982
340,750 331,813

As at 31 March 2008, the carrying value of land use rights
in respect of which the Group had not been granted
formal title of ownership amounted to approximately
HK$164,622,000 (2007: HK$222,520,000). In the opinion
of the directors, the absence of formal title to these
land use rights does not impair the value of the relevant
properties to the Group. The directors also believe that
formal title to these land use rights will be granted to the
Group in due course.

Deposits Paid for Acquisition of Property, 15.
Plant and Equipment and Land Use
Rights

The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with

the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and

land use rights for new production facilities. The related
commitments for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment and land use rights are disclosed in note 34.

RZEBEZNF=F=+—H £@IL KX
BRYEABEREz T HEREZERR
B4 51646220008 L ( Z T T+ 4F ¢
2225200008 7L) - EER AR KL
THFERAEEAEEREY TEEEEE
HEMEEBE - EBNHEEETALZR
EEMER TSI MG RELIEEE -

BEVX RBRERREBERLIMER
EERET &

NI EAKERTMEEREME
ENME BB RERERLHERERD
A BEWE BEEKREARLH
£ RN A BEAED BN E34KE -

EIEHFRAT 2007/08 F3;



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MR

76

For the year ended 31 March 2008 # % =

16.

EENF=ZA=+—HIFE

Interests in Associates 16. REEN R Z#EE

2008 2007
—EFE)N\E —ETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHT
Cost of unlisted investment E ol T = DN 1 =
Share of post-acquisition results FE(R 18 22 4R (1) =

Details of the Group’s associates at 31 March 2008 are as 75’\\: §J\¢ A=+—BASEHE

follows:

Place of
Incorporation/

Issued and fully

\

Effective interest in

Form of registration paid share capital/ the issued share capital/
business and operations registered capital registered capital held
Name of associate structure B/ #MEk EBRITRERE BEITRE/ Principal Activity
- WNCEE BREKX SEMRE R A & M B A HBEAERHE TEEH
2008 2007
ZEEN\E | ZTTLF
Fortune Sight Group Limited  Incorporated British Virgin Ordinary shares — 19% 100% Investment holding
("FSGL") XL Islands Us$1,000 (Note ii) REEZER
(Note i) LA —1,000E T (Bt &Fii)
HBRAES
(Bt 3%i)
EREXMERFERE Registered PRC Registered capital — 19% 100% Producing raw
AR AE i Gy HK$168,000,000 (Note ii) materials for
Guangxi Lee & Man Forestry AMER— (Bt &Fii) manufacturing of
Technology Limited 168,000,000 7T paper and pulp
("Guangxi Lee & Man") HERMN
SUERR R
ARER R AR
Notes: B &

(i) FSGL operates in Hong Kong.

(ii) Upon allotment and issue of new shares by FSGL to a related
party during the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group's
effective interests in FSGL and its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Guangxi Lee & Man, has diluted from 100% to 19%. Details
were set out in note 32. FSGL and Guangxi Lee & Man (the
“FSGL group”) are classified as associates as the Group is
able to exercise significant influence over the management
through the power to appoint one out of the three directors

of FSGL.
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16. Interests in Associates (Continued)

The summarised consolidated financial information of FSGL
group is set out below:

16. MEBtERNRZHEEE(HE)
FSGLEEMA A MBS ERBRMT -

2008

—EF)N\E

HK$’000

T#ExT

Total assets REE 686,920

Total liabilities Y =RE (702,804)

Net liabilities FAE (15,884)
The Group’s share of new liabilities of AEBEEFSGLEEF & &

FSGL group —
Revenue WA =
Losses for the year REFE (23,053)
The Group’s share of losses of REEREEREIGFSGLE R E R

FSGL group for the year (1)

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of
losses in FSGL group because its cumulative share of losses
in FSGL group has exceeded its investment cost. The Group
will not resume recognition of its share of any future profits
in FSGL group until its share of such profits equals the share
of losses not recognised.

The amounts of unrecognised share of losses in FSGL
group, extracted from the relevant unaudited management
accounts of FSGL group, both for the year and cumulatively
from the date that FSGL group became associates of the
Group, are as follows:

HRAEKERFSGLEE M RETRIEEBEERE R
BEREKRA  BAKEDKILERELEN
FSGLEBER - AKEKTEBITRIAERE
HHFSGLEBEIMBRAN BEEHEAZ
ZEBNMBERHAEINEBEBERL -

M AR R E FE(RFSGLE B B 1858 (Fa sk B 188
FSGLEEARAKEREZEERER  BEAFER
BFSGLE B A A& BB & Q7 B H R
REHE) AT

2008
—EFEN\E
HK$'000
THExT

Unrecognised share of losses of NEZ ) R ERIEIGFSGLE B 518

FSGL group for the year (1,870)
Accumulated unrecognised share of ZEt i R EREGFSGLE B B 18

losses of FSGL group (1,870)
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17. Inventories 17. #&
2008 2007
—EEN\E ZETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR
Raw materials Rk 2,131,577 1,247,715
Finished goods RURK 367,590 131,444
2,499,167 1,379,159
18. Trade and Other Receivables 18. FEWE 5 & H it Bk =X
2008 2007
—EEN\E ZETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR
Trade receivables FEW R 5 AR X 1,708,040 819,383
Bills receivables & U 3= 3R 526,742 261,239
2,234,782 1,080,622
Deposits and prepayments & RIER RIE 199,017 179,850
Other receivables H b & W 5K I8 294,088 113,220
2,727,887 1,373,692
The Group generally allows an average credit period of 90 AEE-—RETEPHEEHAROA -
days to its customers. An ageing analysis of the trade and EWEZERRERNEREDTAT
bills receivables is as follows:
2008 2007
—EFN\E ZETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FHT
Aged: ARG -
Less than 30 days LHR30H 1,257,486 769,135
31-60 days 31 H-60H 545,117 217,302
61-90 days 61 H-90H 286,433 72,979
90-120 days 90H-120H 73,753 11,083
Over 120 days 1208 LA & 71,993 10,123
2,234,782 1,080,622
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18. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

As at 31 March 2007, bills receivables of HK$55,751,000
were discounted with recourse and were pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group, the pledge was
released during the year ended 31 March 2008.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess
the potential customer’s credit quality and defines its credit
limits. Credit sales are made to customers with a satisfactory
trustworthy credit history. Credit limits attributed to
customers are reviewed regularly. As at the balance sheet
dates, the directors considered all trade receivables are of
good credit quality attributables with reference to the track
records of these customers under internal assessment by the
Group.

Included in the Group's trade receivables balance
are debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$145,746,000 (2007: HK$21,206,000) which were past
due at the reporting date for which the Group has not
provided for impairment loss as the Group considered such
balances could be recovered based on historical experience.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
The Group takes into consideration the estimated cash
flows when determining evidence of impairment loss.

Ageing of trade receivables which were past due but
not impaired

18.

BWRESREEMERK (&)
R-ZTZ+F=H=+—H 55,751,000
BT ERERE R EBRER
EER - DESKE FASBEMNRITEER
=i REEBEREBEE-ZETNE=
A=+—HLEFEHK -

AEEREREMHZLA - BTG
ZEEEPHNEEEERATHEER
B EEHERER TEEREREN
EP - BEFPEERBEH T URE - 1
BEB EAKENAMFET @ RE
ZEBFHNERELE EZRAMAR
WEHERIEBRIFEELE -

AEBEVRESRALEHT DIELER
[ {8 £145,746,000 Bt (Z T Z £ 4F ¢
21,206,000/87T) MEKREBE ZER  %F
RERBEBHESEE  HAEER
BRBBATER  ZELEBRER T UK
B W EGIRRESERE -  ~AEH
WERZEEHBTEEMERR - A&
ERETRESERIERE T RETE

s =
@/}Ibi ©

1 HA 1B 12 oK iRl 1B B B UL B 5 B B AR

2008 2007

ZEEN\F —EBLF

HK$000 HK$'000

FT#ERT TET

90-120 days 90H-120H 73,753 11,083
Over 120 days 1208 LA £ 71,993 10,123
145,746 21,206

No allowance for doubtful receivables has been recognised
for the year ended 31 March 2008 (2007: Nil) as the
directors considered these trade receivables balances could
be recovered based on historical experience.

BE_ZTZN\F=-A=+—HLFEL
ERRB(_TTLF  B) EFAREK
ERERE  ZERESRAREBER
% ZEREESERFEHRT T RE -
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18. Trade and Other Receivables (continued) 18.

Trade and other receivables that are denominated in

EWE 5 R EMRR (&)
WIHNEHEEEREEEENE

currencies other than the functional currencies of the WE S EEMBRET :
relevant group entitles are set out below:
2008 2007
ZEENE —EEEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FT#&ExT FET
Renminbi (“RMB") AR ("RMB") 868,970 380,601
United States dollars (“US$") I (TUS$T) 390,477 191,131
Euro (“EUR") BT ("EUR™) 3,637 —
19. Amounts Due from Associates 19. MEWEIE NRIE

The amounts represent non-trade balances due from FSGL
group. The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. In the opinion of the directors, the
amounts are expected to be repaid within one year from the
balance sheet date.

20. Amount Due from a Related Company 20.

The amount represents a trading balance due from Lee
& Man Industrial Manufacturing Limited (“Lee & Man
Industrial Manufacturing”) which is beneficially owned by
Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a director of the Company.

The amount is unsecured and interest-free. The Group
generally allows an average credit period of 30 days to Lee
& Man Industrial Manufacturing and the amounts for both
years were aged less than 30 days. As at the respective
balance sheet dates, the balance was neither impaired nor
past due.
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21. Restricted bank Deposits and Bank

Balances and Cash

The restricted bank deposits of HK$489,000 (2007:
HK$1,953,000) represent amount placed in specific bank
accounts to secure deferred payment of custom duties
to the PRC government which will expire within one year
from the balance sheet date and are therefore classified as
current assets.

Bank balance and cash comprise cash held by the Group
and short term bank deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less.

The restricted bank deposits carried market interest rate of
0.72% (2007: 0.72%) per annum. Bank balances carried
market interest rates ranging from 3.30% to 4.45% (2007:
3.57% to 4.25%) per annum.

Bank balances that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities
are set out below:

21.

ERFIRTEARRITEREREE

489,000 7T (— T T L £ : 1,953,000 &
) BRBIBRTHERERFRERTH
Bt 52 A F o BB i 75 DO R4 R R TT
FOMZE E#&EAR—FAZHZ

ROTEHREACERASERAENRS
RIRBIE B A =8 A sk AR 2 H R 1T
R o

ERFIBITHEREEMEF B E02%
“EBTLE 072%) c MBITEGE
AmBEEERR330%ELA5% (T
+ & 357%FE4.25%) ©

WIHNEHEEERHBEERFENR
TTREREINAT -

2008 2007

—EFN\E —EEEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#ET FH T

RMB AR 68,373 20,580
us$ ey 92,328 43,576
EUR i 47,991 27,875
Great British Pound (“GBP") HigE 13,966 2,437
Japanese Yen (“JPY") Ht 12,280 65,665
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22. Derivative Financial Instruments

22. fTEMBIA

82

Current Non-current
B R E
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\NE | —ZT+F | ZFEN\E | T tF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET FTERT FHET
Derivative financial liabilities PMAERBEE
Derivatives under EHGEHENRZ
hedge accounting TET R
Interest rate swaps (note i) ) 2= 4 4 (P21 ) (63,840) - (77,052) =
Cross currency interest RX BB X1 1
rate swaps (note i) =) (955) — (65,902) =
(64,795) — (142,954) —
Other derivatives HitnfiT£ IR
(not under hedge (it 3F 4% &
accounting) g EANER)
Interest rate swaps (note iii) ) == 45 BB (Bt =) (14,022) (8,312) (19,353) —
Currency structured EEEEETA
instruments (note iv) (P &Eiv) (113,727) (3,789) = =
Derivatives embedded in the ABMBRESAE
convertible bonds (note v) PTHETH (FI5Ev) — 3) = =
(127,749) (12,104) (19,353) —
(192,544) (12,104) (162,307) =
Derivative financial assets PTAEB & B
Other derivatives HMiT£T R
(not under hedge (3 3E #R 15 £
accounting) BEENR)
Interest rate swaps (note ii) ) = 322 B (5 3,656 — — —
Currency structured EEEEETA
instruments (note iv) (Bt &Eiv) 20,707 42,310 — —
Commodity swaps (note vi) 74 fn 752 B (Fft 5 vi) 861 = = —
25,224 42,310 —_ =

The fair values of the above derivative finanical instruments
are calculated using discounted cash flow analysis based
on the applicable yied curves of interest rates and foreign

exchange rates as determined by counterparty financial

institutions.
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22. Derivative Financial Instruments (Continued)
Notes:

(0]

Interest rate swaps

The Group uses interest rate swaps to minimise its exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk of its variable-rate HK$ bank
borrowings (see note 24) by swapping a proportion of the
variable-rate bank borrowings from variable interest rates
to fixed interest rates of 4.75% and 5.00%, and interest
rate floored at 4.65% and capped at 5.50%. The interest
rate swaps and the corresponding bank borrowings have
the same terms and the directors of the Company consider
that the interest rate swaps are highly effective hedging
instruments. Major terms of the interest rate swaps are set
out below:

Notional amount

BEEH®

22,

Interest rate swap

P

TEMBIR ()
MisE -
0]

F = 2 1

AEERBAEREH  BBEBPDF
BRITIEEHF B F X5y E E A
RA75% 55.00% & A 4% F R T R TR
4.65%  F = LR AIFT5.50%  #5 It
REREZEBBETERMAEZ
BERENERER (R K E24) o F =
HH KRR ZRITEEAEBHEER
EERAEFREHTIESE B2 H
TA - FREHAEZERET DT

2 contracts with HK$1,000,000,000 in total
2134 #94£1,000,000,0007% 7T

1 contract with HK$1,000,000,000 in total
1134 #94£1,000,000,000 7 7T

The above contracts will mature within five years from the
balance sheet date.

As at 31 March 2008, losses from fair value changes of
HK$129,162,000 (2007: Nil) were deferred in equity and
are expected to be released to the consolidated income
statement at various dates in line with the interest and
principal payments schedule of the corresponding bank
borrowings in the coming five years. The remaining losses
from fair value changes of HK$11,730,000 (2007: Nil) were
recognised in the consolidated income statement as they
represented the ineffective portion of the losses on the
hedging instruments.

From HIBOR to fixed rates of 4.75% and 5.00%
ABEBRTAEREEEES4.75% %5.00%

From HIBOR to rate floored at 4.65% and capped at 5.50%
HAEBRITAEREIEZE&IK4.65% E & =5.50%

EREXKBREERREAFARIE -

R_ZEENE=ZA=+—H BHAF
BEEB)E £ 2 E518129,162,00078 7T (=
TTLF D)ERBRAESPELERE
o FEHERRRAFRESAERT
BEZAERASTNBERTRB T
EOGEKRaR BHATEEZIHEE
K £ N E1811,730,0008 T ( — T ZE +
F:F) ARZEBEBERAERE T
BEEBZEEDD  AUERES K=
RHPER °
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22. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued) 22.

Notes: (Continued)

(ii) Cross currrency interest rate swaps
At balance sheet date, the Group had the following cross
currency interest rate swaps designated as highly effective
hedging instruments in order to manage the Group'’s foreign
currency exposure in relation to the foreign currency coupon
and principal payments of its fixed-rate US$ notes payable
(see note 24). The terms of the cross currency interest
rate swaps were negotiated to match the terms of the
corresponding notes payable. Major terms of these contracts
are as follows:

Notional amount

e

Currency swap

HE Y

TTEMBIR (&)
MieE - (&8

(ii)

RRXREHHEER

REER AEEHEATIREER
=R TR 2 2 XE KA 4 5 A
EEALEA B EINE REE N XK
ZENETRBZAES N ZINER
R (RMEE24) - KREEM KRB 2
FHRTER UESHERNREE
ZEH - ZEANZZEBRFRMAT

Interest rate swap

il 2 4= 81

2 contracts with US$100,000,000
in total in total
2154 #9+£100,000,000% ¢ 2134 ##£776,800,0007% 7T

The above contracts will mature within seven to ten years
from the balance sheet date.

As at 31 March 2008, losses from fair value changes of
HK$53,905,000 (2007:Nil) were deferred in equity and
are expected to be released to the consolidated income
statement at various dates in line with the coupon and
pricinpal payments schedule of the corresponding notes
payable in the coming ten years. The remaining losses from
fair value changes of HK$12,952,000 (2007: Nil) were
recognised in the consolidated income statement as they
represented the ineffective portion of the losses on the
hedging instruments.

(iii) Interest rate swaps

2 contracts with HK$776,800,000

(iii)

From range of 6.43% to 6.81% to
range of 6.41% to 6.64%

FH6.43% %£6.81% HE N E
6.41% £6.64% % [E A

tHRAHEREERRELEETFRE
/ﬁﬁo

RZEZNF=ZA=+—H BAAAF
B % ) EE 4 2 &5 $853,905,0007% 7T ( —
TRLE B)ERBAERTIELR
B EHERARTFRSEEZE
NEERASIAFHERTRA FEE
HAWER BAFEEHELANS
T E5 812,952,000 T(ZEF + F :
) ARZSEBEEERYFTAEE
Mz BEID  ARGEEKERFB
TR o

) 2 4= 1

Major terms of the interest rate swaps are as follows:

Notional amount

e

M 7 = SERFFAT

Interest rate swap

FE =

3 contracts with HK$900,000,000 in total

3154 #94£900,000,0005% 7T

The above contracts will mature within one to three years

from the balance sheet date.
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22. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)
Notes: (Continued)
(iv) Currency structured instruments

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency forward contracts
Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts
are as follows:

National amount
MEeH

2. WTEMBIA(E)
Bk (48)
(iv) @HEHE®IA
@ SEEHIAK
INEEERA B2 B ERE I M
T

Currency conversion

EHaig

20 contracts to buy US$102,000,000 in total
20194 #1#£ E 102,000,000 7T

10 contracts to buy US$16,000,000 in total
1013 & #)#£ 516,000,000 7T

6 contracts to sell GBP3,700,000 in total
617 & A9+ = 3,700,000 3 £

4 contracts to buy GBP1,100,000 in total
41 A #$£E 1,100,000 F &

1 contract to buy EUR2,000,000 in total
117 & #9 £ 52,000,000 4 7T

The above contracts will mature within one to twelve
months from the balance sheet date.

LIBOR range subsidized forward contracts

The Group entered into two LIBOR range subsidized
rate foreign currency forward contracts during the
year with maturity dates of 2 May 2008 and 9 October
2008 respectively. Their major terms are as follows:

Nominal amount
2 contracts with US$10,000,000 in total

Payment currency amount

At each settlement date, the Group will pay the
notional amounts at one plus the number of days
within the transaction period (the period from the
prior settlement date to the next settlement date)
upon which LIBOR below the interest rates ranging
from 3.50% to 3.93%, divided by the total number of
calendar days within the transaction period.

Receipt currency amount

At each settlement date, the Group will receive the
notional amounts at subsidized forward rates ranging
from 7.51 to 7.55, divided by the amount of RMB that
required to buy one US$ as displayed on Reuter Page
at 9:15 a.m. Beijing time on two business days prior to
the settlement date.

US$1: HK$7.6670 to 7.7789
12T 7.6670%7.7789% T

US$1: RMB7.2739 to 7.5240
1370 7.2739%7.5240 AR ¥

GBP1: US$2.0022 to 2.0450
15842 352.0022 £ 2.0450% 7T

GBP1: US$1.8760 to 1.9780
1885 5,1.8760% 1.9780FE 7T

EUR1: US$1.3530
18T 3 1.3530% ¢

EREHOEHEERRE—Z+ =
&8 A mE -

(b) ff%@ 77 [F] 2 17 & [z B Bl Ak i 2
=X 1)
ANE B AF E ] S M5 R
TR ZEN B & B KINE IR B &
H - DRR=_EZENFRA=H
=T N \F+ANBEH K
FEBRKEAT ¢

[ERES
23 & 494 510,000,000 7T

XNHEESE

REEEB  AEEBZFEE
T ZeBER-NRSH(E
—HEAET—#£EBHB) R
fia ZER 7T A 2 3F B AR R 3.50% =
3BREMBMOBH  BARSH
NERBHE -

WOHR &5 K & 2R

REHEER  AEEBEKRREE
T ZeBRISIZISTE
B BE R BRI R - BRIA EF AR
TEAKRBEHPBEMTEE —=
THAHEHARESEFE - BFHE
A4 E B AT B 2 3 B B R
HARZE -

85

EIEHFRAT 2007/08 F3;



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2008 #Z—=—ZTZNF=HA=+—HI-FE

(v)

(vi)

22. Derivative Financial Instruments (Continued) 22. #T%MB IR (%)
Notes: (Continued) BERNE )n ) -
Derivative embedded in the convertible bonds () THREEZNEMTELR
2008 2007
—ETEN\E —TTLF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TF#ET FHBT
Fair value at the beginning of the year FH2zRFE 3 1,200
Change in fair value NEEE (3) (1,197)
Fair value at the end of the year FHRZANTE = 3
This derivative represented the early redemption right of the EITERRARRMAIBRBRESZE
bond holders in respect of the Company’s convertible bonds. FRBAARELBROETR - RFE
The fair value was calculated using the Black-Scholes Model. BN R-sFTRIEXGTE - A FERT
The valuation of fair value was carried out by Jones Lang mREMEHTAPIER AR (A & &
LaSalle Sallmanns Limited (formerly known as Sallmanns (Far AMCGER)GRAA) TK - BAE—B
East) Limited), an independent valuer not connected with VB BASBWERE - FR -
the Group. The change in fair value of HK$3,000 (2007: 3,000% ;T ( = F T £ F : 1,197,000 %
HK$1,197,000) was recognised in the consolidated income L) ZATFEEBHEREGEE KSR AE
statement for the year. All the remaining convertible bonds R AR THABRKRESENFA
were converted into ordinary shares of the Company during HBRAARRBEBRRG -
the year.
Commodity swaps (vi) RmEH
Major terms of the commodity swaps are as follows: AmERZEEZGRHIAT :
Notional quantity Commodity Swap
BaBE & ) 2 15 1A
2 contracts with 6,000 metric tonnes Pulp From monthly average market price to a range of
in total US$865 to US$870 per metric tonne
217 & #93£6,000 A HE N HERFH M EEEE AN865X T E870% T

The above contracts will mature within five months from the
balance sheet date.
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23.

22. Derivative Financial Instruments (Continued) 22. TTEMB IR (&)
Derviative financial instruments that are denominated NEAEEEREEEUAINEEEE
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the ZOTEMB T AHIIMT
relevant group entities are set out below:
2008 2007
—EFEN\E —EEEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FAT
Derivative financial assets PTEMKEEE
us$ ETT 18,791 32,036
EUR (& 1,236 7,341
GBP g 680 1,686
JPY H7t — 1,247
Derivative financial liabilities PMTHEMEARE
us$ ETT 179,258 —
EUR BT — 126
GBP e 1,326 —
JPY Ht — 3,663
Trade and Other Payables 23. ENESREMERK
2008 2007
ZEFN\E —ETAF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ET T
Trade and bills payables BERESERRER 747,743 510,454
Accruals fEstE A 198,298 157,176
Other payables H A FE A 5k IE 445,608 222,853
1,391,649 890,483
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23. Trade and Other Payables (continued)
The average credit period taken for trade purchases range
from 30 to 60 days. An ageing analysis of the trade and bills

payables is as follows:

23.

FETE 5 R H At BR X (&)
BBEZFHREKEHHI0EE0H T
c BNEARBRZEREDIFTAT -

2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FATT
Aged: ARER ¢
Less than 30 days LH30H 665,148 465,392
31-60 days 31H-60H 48,584 28,592
61-90 days 61 H-90H 17,161 8,849
Over 90 days 90H M E 16,850 7,621
747,743 510,454
Trade and other payables that are denominated in BREBASEE Z2IEE A REEHZ
currencies other than the functional currencies of the ENE S REMBRKAT :
relevant group entities are set out below:
2008 2007
—EFEN\E —ETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FAIT
RMB AR 523,202 260,046
us$ ETT 182,227 309,444
EUR B 7T 33,223 80,000
JPY Ht 85,681 12,857
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24. Bank and Other Borrowings

24, RITREMEER

2008 2007
—EEN\E —TTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Bank loans RITER 6,251,891 2,003,198
Bank import loans RITHEOER 72,153 65,119
Bank overdraft RITHEX = 12,045
6,324,044 2,080,362
Notes payable e R i% 776,800 —
7,100,844 2,080,362
Analysed as: DT
Secured A 1 — 55,751
Unsecured AR 7,100,844 2,024,611
7,100,844 2,080,362
The bank and other borrowings are RITREAEER
repayable as follows: BRANAT
Within one year or on demand —FRNFEERER 2,781,310 824,762
More than one year, iR —FE DR E
but not exceeding two years 370,000 105,600
More than two years, BEMFEBRLRAF
but not exceeding five years 3,172,734 1,150,000
More than five years iR hF 776,800 —
7,100,844 2,080,362
Less: Amount due within one year B ARSI AREBEER
shown under current liabilities —F RN EHRIE (2,781,310) (824,762)
Amount due after one year —F & B HFRIE 4,319,534 1,255,600
The Group’s bank and other borrowings include & H R 17 & H b & & 8 $5776,800,000

HK$776,800,000 (2007: HK$16,621,000) fixed-rate
borrowings which carried interest rates ranging from
6.43% t0 6.81% per annum (2007: 3.24% per annum) and
HK$6,324,044,000 (2007: HK$2,063,741,000) variable-rate
borrowings which carry interest rates ranging from HIBOR
plus 0.58% to HIBOR plus 0.80% (2007: ranging from
HIBOR plus 0.60% to HIBOR plus 0.75%) per annum.

BT (ZZ T 16,621,000) F B X
643%%E681% 2 EEEE(ZZTE £
F o F B E324%) 16,324,044,000 7
T(=ZZZT L4 : 2,063,741,000/8 JT) Z
TTEBEEE FEXABITAEMLE
058% £ 080% T 5 (ZEZELF : BB
TEAIZR AN F0.60% £ 0.75% 1~ %) -
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24. Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued) 24, RITREMESR (&)

On 15 January 2008, the Company entered into an
agreement with independent third parties. Pursuant to
which, the Company has agreed to issue notes with an
aggregate principal amount of US$100,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$776,800,000) to independent third parties. The
notes comprised two series, series A and series B, with an
aggregate principal amount of US$35,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$271,880,000) and US$65,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$504,920,000), respectively. Series A notes carry interest
at a fixed-rate of 6.43% per annum and will mature on
15 January 2015, whereas series B notes carry interest at
a fixed rate of 6.81% per annum and will mature on 15
January 2018.

R-ZZEZNF—A+EHHB ' KNAREF
4%—Hﬂ4ﬁf%EéH°F% ¥iN

A7) [Fl B 317 7K £ 4 %8 /3 100,000,000 35
7t (#8 % 7776,800,000/ 7T ) N EE T 15
NEZF cZEBEME - A KB

ZE/ A S D Bl A48 FE 435,000,000 T
(*ﬁ E 72 271,880,0007% 7T ) & 65,000,000
7 (#8 & 72504,920,00078 7T ) © ABZ
EEBFEEB643%:E BR=2F—H
F—HA+hHBRH -BEERRESFETE
B681%:t 8 R =T —NF— A+
HHEEIH-

The effective interest rates on the Group’s bank and other NEBFBRTREMES ZEREMN XN
borrowings are as follows: T

2008 2007

—EEN\E —TEFLF

Fixed-rate borrowings EEMEE 6.68% 3.24%

Variable-rate borrowings ZEBE 3.50% 4.09%

At 31 March 2007, included in bank loans was a total
amount of HK$55,751,000 which related to the discounting
of bills receivables with recourse.

The Group’s bank and other borrowings that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entities are set out below:

R-ZEZEL+FE=F=+—H  RITEXK
&%M%‘ESSB‘IOOO/EEH’]WL% =}
BRIRFE U Z= 3K -

RERAKREZNREEEIN  AEE L
RITMEMEEEEEERT

2008 2007

ZEE)N\E —ETLF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#xT FHET

RMB AR 139,826 55,751
us$ X7 836,725 11,946
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25. Deferred Tax

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and
assets recognised and movement thereon during the current
and prior reporting periods.

25. IEEFHIE
TRATBREHRBEENMNEERER
EAEBRENMBERESPRZED) -

Accelerated

tax
depreciation Tax losses Total
EEHENE HIEKR #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAET FHET
At 1 April 2006 —EERFWOA—H 30,266 (19,956) 10,310
Exchange realignment EREHHEE (1,067) — (1,067)
Charge (credit) to consolidated & RAR& A WS RN (5T A)
income statement for the year 17,733 (11,751) 5,982
At 31 March 2007 —EE+F=A=+—H 46,932 (31,707) 15,225
Exchange realignment EREHRHEE 6,760 — 6,760
Charge to consolidated FRARGAWEERNR (G A)
income statement for the year 54,778 1,911 56,689
At 31 March 2008 —EENF=A=+—H 108,470 (29,796) 78,674

For the purpose of balance sheet presentation, certain
deferred tax liabilities and assets have been offset. The
following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

RRAEEERERZHEN  ETEL
BHRAEENIEECHEE - TRARER
BHEB N ZELERIBRAEHRDN

2008 2007

—EEN\E —EELF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

T#ET FiE T

Deferred tax liabilities LRI A E 108,470 46,932
Deferred tax assets FEIEFIEE = (29,796) (31,707)
78,674 15,225
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25.

26.

Deferred Tax (continued)
At 31 March 2008, the Group had unused tax losses of

approximately HK$259,000,000 (2007: HK$85,000,000)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of approximately
HK$68,000,000 (2007: HK$72,000,000) of such losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised for the
remaining losses of approximately HK$191,000,000
(2007: HK$13,000,000) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. At 31 March 2008, of the above
tax losses, amounts of approximately HK$68,000,000
(2007: HK$72,000,000) and HK$127,000,000 (2007:
HK$24,000,000) can be carried forward for twenty years
and five years following the loss year, respectively. The other
tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

According to the Tax Law, starting form 1 January 2008,
10% withholding income tax will be imposed on dividends
relating to profits earned in year 2008 onwards to foreign
investors for the companies established in the PRC. For
investors incorporated in Hong Kong, preferential rate of
5% will be applied. Deferred tax has not been provided

25.

RERIE(E)

R-ZZEZNF=ZA=+—H ANEEH
REB)FAE ] A K 30 R 2R B 7 2 B 7% s
8 47 /259,000,000 ;L ( —Z & & + F :
85,000,000/8 7T ) IR EFL IH & EE - E A5t
% % 85 18 7 2 #968,000,000 78 T ( = &
=+ 4F ¢ 72,000,000 78 ) ° AR AR E
Az AN A TEAl - &2 TR 191,000,000 74

TT(ZZZ L : 13,000,000/ 7t ) Z &
BUIBRBEARELTIEEE -R_ZF

NE=ZA=+—8  LHliRBEERL
68,000,000,% 7T (== Z 4 : 72,000,000
77T ) }127,000,0008 T (— T4 ¢
24,000,000/ 7T) 7] B BB FE & D Bl 4

E_+FREF - HRGERTER
Hi#

RERZEZ BZZEZENFEF—F— Eli

REBEKZAIINEREDER

I\ E B ERE A& F RS H—r?ﬂiﬁmﬂﬂ

10% M TE BT o KRB B A&

?EE%H'JTEE{EEE%”S% E= DA
AR TR ZRE MR ERE - B

for in the consolidated financial statements in respect &tﬁﬁﬂ—r#ﬁ A] B 48 3k A& 0 a7 JE R
of the temporary differences attributable to such profits O WITERZEBN DAL=
amounting to HK$45,140,000 as the Group is able 45,140,000/ 7T * E&E S MR R P IE
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary R IE A o
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Convertible Bonds 26. ARIREES
2008 2007
—EFN\E —EEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
T#ERT THETT
Liability component: BEM
Carrying value at the beginning
of the year FY 2z REE 205,364 901,006
Less: Conversion B AR (207,446) (741,413)
Add: Imputed interest LA 2,082 45,771
Carrying value at the end of the year FRZEHEE = 205,364

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2007/08 Annual Report




26. Convertible Bonds (Continued)
On 13 January 2006, the Company issued

HK$1,000,000,000 zero coupon convertible bonds due in
2011 (the “2011 Bonds”). The 2011 Bonds did not bear
interest.

The 2011 Bonds were convertible, at the option of the
holders thereof, into ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the
Company at a conversion price of HK$12.04 per share at
any time on or after 28 January 2006 up to and including
6 January 2011. The 2011 Bonds could be redeemed at the
option of the 2011 Bonds holders on 13 January 2008 at
109.31% of the principal amount.

On or after 13 January 2008, the Company had the option
to redeem all of the entire remaining amount of the 2011
Bonds, at any time prior to their maturity, at an amount
stipulated in the terms of the 2011 Bonds, when any of the
following conditions are satisfied (i) the closing market price
of the Company’s shares for any 30 consecutive trading
days, prior to the date on which the notice of redemption
is given, was at least 130% of the redemption price of each
share; or (ii) at least 90% of the principal amount of the
2011 Bonds were converted, redeemed or purchased and
cancelled. The Company could redeem the 2011 Bonds at
124.92% of their principal amount on 13 January 2011
unless conversion or cancellation by the 2011 Bonds holders
before maturity. The value of this derivative was immaterial
to the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, all the remaining
principal amount of the 2011 Bonds of HK$204,710,000
(2007: 795,289,000) were converted into ordinary shares of
the Company.

The valuation of the 2011 Bonds was carried out by
Jones Lang LaSalle Sallmanns Limited (formerly known as
Sallmanns (Far East) Limited). For accounting purpose the
2011 Bonds were split into three components: derivative
financial instruments, liability and equity. The equity
element was presented as convertible bonds equity reserve
under equity and the early redemption right was presented
as derivative financial instruments in the consolidated
balance sheet (see note 22). The effective interest rate of
the liability component was 6.73% per annum.

26. AR ES (&)

R-PBAE-AT=H ARTET
0BT 2T ETRRES —F——4
B (=T ——EARRES]) =%
——EARBEHLEE -

—E——FrBEREFAUREBEEAEAZ
BE S PEBRE12UBTR ST RE
— At N\HHZ2RE_E——F— A
ANAIEEAEEERES QR ERR10
TZERK - —T——Fa BARELFSE
EAEBER-_ZZNF—AF+=ZBUAX
S L FEMI0931%ER =T ——F A/ i
MES -

—EENF—RAt=H=z%E AR
AR B HiR - AR T ——F iR
B & 25 FT 5| 42 5 B [0 FTeA 3058 - MER A
TERIAREREE ¢ () AN A A iR () & &30
MRS AU TE @ A2 E B B AT
B AEBREMHERERZ130% : 3ki)
—E——FABRBREFAE ZHLI0%
Bk fEh - BEEHE —F——
FOBMBRESFAIR_ZE——F—A+=
BAKRE Z212492%H A QA EE - B
EEEHBR T ——Fa R EFE
EABEBRSNTHE ANEERAMITE
THAZEETSR °

FRAHE-_ZTZZTNF=ZA=+—H
1E» B204,7100008 T(Z 2 F £ F ¢
7952890008 L) A R T ——
FrAIRESHEARAREBER -

T —FABRREFZTEHMPEE
TEMEBERAR (A EAAMGER)E
RAGE)THK - BREFTER —F—
—FA BB ESF D A= BN STEY
WITE aEki#Es - BmmmxNU[A
BREFERFRE I NE=REHRE
EMTE2NEGREEEABRZITEY
BTERKHE22)  BEBPDZEERSE
FIE 56.73% °
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27. Retirement Benefits Plans

(a)

Plans for Hong Kong employees

Defined benefit plan

The Group is a member of a defined benefit plan
which was open to qualified employees of the Group'’s
Hong Kong subsidiary, the plan is managed by Fortune
Star Tradings Ltd (“Fortune Star”). Fortune Star is
beneficially owned by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a
director of the Company. In December 2000, all the
then existing members of the defined benefit plan
were enrolled into a MPF Scheme and their accrued
benefits for the past services under the defined
benefit plan were frozen as at 30 November 2000.
The defined benefit plan was closed to new employees
from December 2000 onwards.

Under the defined benefit plan, employees are entitled
to retirement benefits varying between 0% and 100%
of their final salary as at 30 November 2000 multiplied
by the pensionable service year up to 30 November
2000 on attainment of a retirement age of 55. No
other post-retirement benefits are provided.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the defined
benefits plan assets and the present value of the
defined benefit obligation was carried out at 31
December 2007 by HSBC Life (International) Limited.
The present values of the defined benefit obligation,
the related current service cost and past service
cost were measured using the projected unit credit
method.

The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

27. BIKEFIEE

(@)

AEBEET RN
REEFIHE
A B2 — A R R i B

8 » #Z &t & fFortune Star Trading
Ltd ([ Fortune Star]) 5 Il &) 7 & &
NARIMNBARIZEEREESR
£ o Fortune Starf Em A A B
Bt E  BARRIEE BN
TETF+_H AREAN=:TEE
BAEKEE 552 H AR
Bertd  MmEEEREN=TE
A BERGEHNREFR
—EETE T -HA=TH#ERE
B_ZTTF T+ HiE - E%Eaﬂ
FSrEI T EHRFESERE -

RIERERAE - EERFER
TR BRR IR 2 ik I Al B ER R R IR 1R
FEENRER_ZTZZTF+— A
_+am BFHE2HEE100% T
L RUBEZZTTZF+—A=
THIEMEFRARSHRBEEE -

NEE I EmIRHE MR IKEEA o

FTE 18 M EF 81 B B M FE & A A
EREZKOHEERE  TIHE
GASHRR(BBR)BRRA ®
—EELEFE+T_A=1T—H{H
Afeh o AEMNBHIERE - HEZ
fﬁ%ﬁ&i‘“&K&iﬂ%E’]ﬂﬁ%ﬁRK
TR ATEMA BN A&

FTANEEREBRRET

31 Decmeber 31 December

2007 2006

—EELE ZERRF

+—A +=A

=+-H =+-H

Discount rate A5 3R = 3.45% 3.75%
Expected return on plan assets AT 21 & E 78 Hi 3 3R 4% 5%
The actuarial valuation shows that the market value EEEHABETTIEEN T
of plan assets at 31 December 2007 was HK$938,000 +FEF+_A=+—RHZHTER
(31 December 2006: HK$893,000) and that the 938,000/ 8 L (=& = =

actuarial value of these assets represented 447 % (31
December 2006: 423%) of the benefits that were
accrued to members.

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2007/08 Annual Report

NE+ZAZ=
+—H : 893,000 T ) ﬁﬂaz 3
EZREBENHEENE
FEB R 2 447% (ZBEE N F
=+—H :423%) °



27. Retirement Benefits Plans (Continued) 27. BIRBEFIFE (&)

(a) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) @) AEEREREMRME(2)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) REIEFHE (&)
The credit recognised in the consolidated income REgE Wm kot A E @A E
statement in respect of the defined benefit plan was DT HAOT
as follows:
2008 2007
—EFN\E —ETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest cost B 8 6
Expected return on plan assets 5T 2] & E 78 Hi [0 3 (45) (39)
Actuarial gain recognised in the year A5 E SR (9) (42)
Total, included in other income B (Bt AEMEZEWRA) (46) (75)
The actual return on plan assets for the year was FEIEERAFEEMNERE R A
HK$45,000 (2007: HK$41,000). 45,000/ 7T (Z T T F : 41,000/8
TT) e
The amount included in the consolidated balance AEEMRKENEEE S AL
sheet in respect of the Group’s retirement benefit AEEEBROBENT ¢

assets was as follows:

2008 2007

—EEIN\E ZTTLF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Fair value of plan assets FrEIEENFE 938 893
Present value of funded obligations HRRE (210) 211)
At end of the year F 728 682
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27. Retirement Benefits Plans (Continued) 27. BIREFIEE (4F)
(a) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) () ATHEEMRE (&)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) REWEFETE (&)
Movements in the fair value of the plan assets were as HEEEAFTENESHNT
follows:
2008 2007
—EFN\E ZETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET T
At beginning of the year F 4] 893 795
Expected return of plan assets & EsT &I TR R B3R 45 39
Actuarial gains EEG= = 2
Transfer in from other employers EE g HMmESE = 57
At end of the year F 4R 938 893
Movements in the present value of the funded HAHIRENEEBOT :

obligations were as follows:

2008 2007

—EF)N\E —ETLF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT TR

At beginning of the year F 1) 211 146
Interest cost BB AR 8 6
Actuarial (gains) losses BE (5%) B8 (9) 2
Transfer in from other employers HEE A MEE — 57
At end of the year Fx 210 211
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27. Retirement Benefits Plans (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued)
Defined benefit plan (Continued)

The major categories of plan assets, and the expected
rate of return at the balance sheet date for each
category, were as follows:

27. BIABEAE (&)

(a)

RIEEF| 2 (&)
SPBIEECETEHER - U REEH
REERAZBRERERMAT

Expected return

REBEEMRAME (F)

Fair value of plan assets

T H E# REEEANTE
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEENE | —_ZT+F | ZEEN\EF | _TTLF
% % HK$'000 HK$'000
At R FER FH7
Debt instruments EHLIA 4 903 872
Cash and cash equivalents  H& KR &ZEY 2 2 35 21
Weighted average AT TR B
expected return 4 5
938 893
Defined contribution scheme RIEHKETE
The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying AEBRFBEEGEREERY —
employees. The assets of the scheme are held HRESFTE - ZeTEIWEERR
separately from those of the Group, in funds under SENBEESHRTE UWREARE
the control of trustees. The Group contributes the SEABERES o AN 5% E 11,000
lower of HK$1,000 or 5% of the relevant monthly T ek A B A B AR #I5% - [A9E
payroll costs to the MPF Scheme. BERETEIHR -
Plans for PRC employees (b) 7 El{E S ek HY 5 &

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the required contributions under
the scheme.

TEMBAREANEE DS A
B BT S e B 3O IR R KR
MEHE - REK BB AREES
TMETADL - RKEF G S
R ERBHNZE - AEEEER
KEMTE O -—TEERZRE
FHEIRE K
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27. Retirement Benefits Plans (Continued)

(c) Plans for US employees
Defined benefit plan

The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan
for the hourly-paid employees of the United States
subsidiary. The adoption date was 30 June 2005.
The pension plan is frozen and not accepting new
participants. Pension plan benefits are based primarily
on participants’ compensation and years of credited
service.

27. BAREFIFHE (&)

M EE g 8 kA 58
RIE & Tt &
AEBWXEMEBRRRARTE
TE%U%E‘J%% R ES - SR A8
RZZETZRFRA=1TH - ZEK
AEIDHRGE R TERH2NE
BRAGTEN R EZU2ME DR
B & it AR RTS F IS -

The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows: FTAMEZRBERREZMOT :
2008 2007
—EFEN\E —ETLF
Discount rate AL IR & 5.95% 5.90%
Expected return on plan assets 5 &1 & = TR B | 7% 7%

The actuarial valuation by Milliman, Inc. shows
that the market value of plan assets at 31 March
2008 was approximately HK$101,455,000 (2007:
HK$107,906,000) and that the actuarial value of these
assets represented 93% (2007: 93%) of the benefits
that were accrued to members.

The charge recognised in the consolidated income
statement in respect of the defined benefit pension
plan was as follows:

iR 3 Milliman, Inc F5 E (BB Rt
BEEN_—ZTZENF=ZA=1+—8
2 ™18 A101,4550008 T (—E=E
+ £ : 107,906,000 7T ) © % =
BEZRFREEENDEE R K
BEEESNRZBU(ZEZELF
93%) °

KRR KRERARE R ERM
TEIERNERNT ¢

2008 2007

—EEN\E —TTLF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FHT

Current service cost IR B BR 75 B AN 1,679 1,703

Interest cost B A& 6,575 6,669

Expected return on plan assets FrEIEETES @iﬁ (7,272) (7,275)

Actuarial gain recognised in the year ~ F AR IBES (104) =
Total, included in Bt (B ATTHRE

administrative expenses 878 1,097
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27. Retirement Benefits Plans (continued) 27. BIRERIE (&)
(c) Plans for US employees (Continued) () A=EEEmMREEE (&)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) REIEFHE (&)
The amount included in retirement benefit liabilities in MEBREAERTZI TBFEENR
the year in respect of the retirement benefit pension BHaEHREnT
plan was as follows:
2008 2007
—EFEN\E —ETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAIT
Fair value of plan assets FEEEAFE 101,455 107,906
Present value of funded obligations HERE (109,135) (116,618)
(7,680) (8,712)
Unrecognised actuarial gains AERZBES= (11,734) (9,824)
At end of the year F (19,414) (18,536)

Movements in the fair value of the plan assets were as
follows:

HEAEAFENRBNT

2008 2007

—EBIN\E ZTTLF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At beginning of the year F1 107,906 107,801
Expected return on plan assets FTE| & ETEE R 7,272 7,275
Actuarial losses BHEES (6,451) (242)
Benefits paid =ENEEE (7,272) (6,928)
At end of the year Fx 101,455 107,906
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27. Retirement Benefits Plans (Continued) 27. BIARERIE (&)

(c) Plans for US employees (Continued) (0 AEEEEMRME (&)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) REWEFETE (&)
Movements in the present value of the funded HEHIBEREE T
obligations were as follows:
2008 2007
—EFN\E ZETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T
At beginning of the year F 47 116,618 116,411
Current service cost IR B AR 7% B AR 1,679 1,703
Interest cost F B KA 6,575 6,669
Actuarial gains EEG= (8,465) (1,237)
Benefits paid 2 &7 (7.272) (6,928)
At end of the year FIR 109,135 116,618
The major categories of plan assets, and the expected FEIEEZEZESR  AREHER

rate of return at the balance sheet date for each
category, were as follows:

Expected return

REEHZEAEBERAT

Fair value of plan assets

8 &t E 3R FEEEATE
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEFN\E | 2T LE | ZBFEN\E | ZTTLHF
% % HK$'000 HK$'000
B BAL TERT T T
Equity instruments EmITA 9 8 61,305 71,770
Debt instruments BEHIE 4 4 22,960 23,258
Cash and cash equivalents HE&RREZFED 1 1 17,190 12,878

Weighted average DNAE 359 FE AT B R
expected return 7 7

101,455 107,906

Defined contribution plan

The Group also sponsors a 401(k) profit sharing plan
for the monthly-paid employees of the United States
subsidiary. The United States subsidiary is required to
contribute a certain percentage of its payroll to fund
the plan, the maximum allowable contribution by
the Group for each employee is 50% of gross wages
subject to the limitations set by the Internal Revenue
Code in the United States.
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28. Share Capital 28. BAF
Number of Amount
ordinary &8
shares HK$'000
LTEREE FAIT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each B E{E0.1078 Tt HY & i AR
Authorised: JRTE
At 1 April 2006, 31 March 2007 and —EEREMA—RB
31 March 2008 —EE+F=A=1+—HBRK
—EEN\F=ZA=1+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
At 1 April 2006 —EEXFNA—H 967,608,000 96,761
Exercise of share options TR e AR e 5,816,000 582
Conversion of convertible bonds Rl E 5 66,053,932 6,605
Placing of new shares Bk 7 A 80,000,000 8,000
At 31 March 2007 —EE+F=ZR=+—H 1,119,477,932 111,948
Exercise of share options TR AR 900,000 90
Conversion of convertible bonds Bk ES 17,002,480 1,700
At 31 March 2008 —EENF=H=+—H 1,137,380,412 113,738

During the year ended 31 March 2008, 900,000 share
options under the Share Option Scheme (as defined in note
29) were exercised at a subscription price of HK$8.50 per
share, resulting in the issue of 900,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each in the Company. In addition, convertible
bonds with a principal amount of HK$204,710,000 were
converted into ordinary shares at an exercise price of
HK$12.04 resulting in the issue of 17,002,480 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company.

FREEZE_ZTETZNF=ZA=+—8 " &
900,000 % # 1R #5 AR 15 B IR 5T 81 (8
ZRMF)BENBEREETE R
FE(E A S R8.05/8 T + 3 5 E17900,000
A% AN A 75 B E (E0.10 7 7T B I @ AL o
BN N4 4 F8204,710,000 58 T 2 A #2
EHW B TEER12045L - &
B E1717,002,480 f% 2N A Rl & R EI{E0.10
BITRE R o
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28.

29.

102

Share Capital (continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2007, 5,516,000 and

300,000 share options under the Pre-IPO Scheme and
the Share Option Scheme (both as defined in note 29)
respectively were exercised at a subscription price of
HK$4.17 and HK$8.50 per share respectively, resulting in
the issue of 5,816,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
in the Company. In addition, convertible bonds with a
principal amount of HK$795,289,000 were converted into
shares at an exercise price of HK$12.04 resulting in the
issue of 66,053,932 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the
Company. Finally, arrangements were made on 29 January
2007 for a private placement to independent private
investors of 80,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each in the
Company at a price of HK$18.50 per share representing a
discount of approximately 5% to the closing market price
of the Company’s shares on 24 January 2007. Arrangement
fees of HK$20,177,000 were set-off against share premium.

All the shares issued during both years rank pari passu with
the then existing shares in all respects.

Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders of
the Company dated 11 September 2003, two share option
schemes, namely Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) and
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Scheme”), were
approved and adopted.

The Scheme and the Pre-IPO Scheme were established for
the purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible
persons. The Scheme and Pre-IPO Scheme will remain in
force for a period of ten years and three years, respectively
from adoption to the schemes. The Scheme will expire on
10 September 2013 and the Pre-IPO Scheme expired on 10
September 2006.
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28.

29.

BRA (&)
REE-_ZTETLF=ZA=+—HLHF
A+ 255516000 % R IEEH X AR
R% A7 B8 % &t 21 }2.300,000 A% # 18 # &8 A%
B (E& R WaE29) % i A9 B8 A% 4
ETEHE REBEASRKLN7E T K805
7 JT 0 38 B %% 175,816,000 A% AN 2 &) &
PREECIOB T EBRK - B A&
% %A795,289,000 /& 7T 2 7] # i% & F
Hi (7B B12048 0 EHELT
66,053,932 [ N A Bl F AR EE0.108 T K
TR HB RN EELF—H -1
LB - ARRMER RHEA MBI A K
& & A A B2 & 7K A 780,000,000 % & A%
HEI10B T 2D - BRIEE 18505
T BARABROR_BEELF— A=
40 B 2 W B I 495% ° 20,177,000
BT HE BB ER5 B o

ZMERBITHORERMDERSE T mE
ERNRABRNDFZRRFEES -

B8 R R =T &)
BERXRIARRR-_ZZT=ZFNA+
—HBENEEIRZR - M EERE

g (ARt 8 ([%at 8 ) RER
NAERAMBEETS ([EXARER
RIET 81 ]) S REHE /& R BR AR -

RIUZABRERABAERAE - B
EREREBTESERAERAL - &af
gk ERAFAERA OB RN A K
MEMES  PRRTER=ZF %5
AN _F—=FALA+BEMNEER
AABERAFEER-_ZZTRFNA
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29. Share Option Scheme (continued)

0]

Share Option Scheme

Under the Scheme, the Board may at their discretion
grant options to (i) any director (including executive
directors, non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors) and employees of the
Group in which the Group holds an equity interest
or a subsidiary of such company; or (ii) any advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, promoters,
service providers of any member of the Group may
be determined by the Board from time to time
to subscribe for the shares of the Company (the
“Shares”).

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of
the date of grant. The maximum number of Shares
in respect of which options may be granted under
the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company at any point in time.
The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any 12-
month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue on the last date of such 12-month period unless
approval of the shareholders of the Company has
been obtained in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Options may be exercised during such period
(including the minimum period, if any, for which
an option must be held before it can be exercised)
as may be determined by the Board (which shall
be less than ten years from the date of issue of the
relevant option). Options may be granted without
initial payment except the payment of HK$1 as
consideration for grant of option each time. The
exercise price is equal to the highest of (i) nominal
value of the Shares; (ii) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of the grant; and (iii) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of the grant.

29. BRHEETE (&)

(i)

BiREstE
RiFZaE - ARBESZEAIE
BERERLBRETOANEED
EMEF(BREATES  JFNT
EEMBIYFLNTESE) MEE -
AEERERENARXZ A A
BB RE : R AKEEAKE
RBENEWER EXEM[ - 2
HE - AEE - fER - KEA
BF  EBEH  HEAERRE
HER  URBARARND (T
1)

BEMATVARKL BB -
T\ B REAERE - RIZBIE
A& M B RAE TS MR B D K
B EEARERASBARNAFD
BITRAN10% ° FRIFRE LM AR R
MRERBARARROIAE - B
AER A T EEMI121E A ABE R
ERNBREMY RN &S
B AREBARLM12EAHME
RE—AARBDHETRON1% -

ERAARESERAENHE(L
ERERETEN L AFANZEN
R(MA)) TEERE(ZHRA
ERBEREZRTAHET FEE
BHFE) - BRTAXMBETER
BRERBRENKEIN - BRIE
AEBEELNENROBRT
B - TREERSENTIRSE :
O EE : (RHREL B #E
B R RERARAETE
K i) 0 2 B 32 % i B B AT {8
EEREBIXMERBERMT
B F U T (E o
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29. Share Option Scheme (continued) 29. BERRERE (F)
Share Option Scheme (Continued) 0} %ﬁ§§+§g§%$+ o
har jons gran n 23 December 2005 @l == ===
(a)  Share options granted o ecembe Eﬁ%ﬂiﬁ%\&%‘é
The following table discloses details of the T%ﬁﬁ:ﬁt /igﬁft;
. . AZ+=BRTHERES

Company’s options granted on 23 December I Ty RE(AEES)EA

2005 under the Scheme held by employees NAERESERRERNY

(including a director) and movement in such EE)

holdings during the year:

Number of share options
BRESE
Outstanding at Outstanding at Outstanding at
1 April 2006 31 March 2007 31 March 2008
Exercise RIZENE Exercised RZEELE Exercised WIEE\E

Category Date of grant price MA—H duringtheyear =RA=+—H duringtheyear =ZA=+—H

e &7 THEE ®SRTEZE ERTEHE  HRTEHE  ERTEHE  SKRTESA

Director 23 December 2005

B2 “ZTRE

+-A=1+=H 8.50 600,000 — 600,000 — 600,000

Other employees 23 December 2005

HitfgS —ZTRE

+-A=+=H 8.50 1,200,000 (300,000) 900,000 (900,000
1,800,000 (300,000) 1,500,000 (900,000 600,000

In respect of the share options exercised during IREBEEZTZTZNF=H=

the year ended 31 March 2008, the weighted T —HIEFEITE 2 RE -

average share price on the dates of exercise is RATE BBz mEFERE

HK$21.68 (2007: HK$18.06) RANBET(ZZTEZLF:

18.06/8 7T) °

The options granted on 23 December 2005 may R_TERFT_A_-_+=

be exercised in accordance with the following H % H 2 8 I # AT 4R 38 5t &

terms of the Scheme as to: THEFRITEE -

(i) one-third of the options commencing 23 () AZEERFF+_A=
December 2005 to 22 December 2008, +=HE_ZEFTNF+
the fair value of each option at the date of A+ ZHOFE=S
grant is HK$1.87; < —H BB KE - AR

EREBERZATE
&t A1.878 7T 5

(i) one-third of the options commencing 23 i BZEESFE+=AZ=
December 2006 to 22 December 2008 +T=HZE=ZZZ)N\F+
with vesting period from 23 December A+ =BT E=5
2005 to 22 December 2006, the fair value 2 — B AR AT
of each option at the date of grant is FHH-_ETAE =
HK$1.97; and AZ+=HE=ZZ

FH+-_A_+_-_H B
BEEKEEZEHZA
FEMEARI7ET &

(iii) one-third of the options commencing 23 iy A-ZEZE+LFF+_-_F—
December 2007 to 22 December 2008 T=ZHEZZEZTNF T+
with vesting period from 23 December AT ZHAfE=%5
2005 to 22 December 2007, the fair value 2 — ) B AR N AT
of of each option at the date of grant is FHH-_ZETAE =
HK$2.08. AZ+=RE=TT+

F+—_A_+-_B B
BREEREAEHZA
FEMEE R2.088 T °
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29. Share Option Scheme (Continued) 29. BERR#ESE (&)

(i) Share Option Scheme (Continued) () HERRESE (f»?)_‘_ -
(b)  Share options granted on 3 October 2006 (b) ZL’\)]% = f: NEF+A=ZHART
The following table discloses details of the Iﬁ@ﬁ%:%??i—f—ﬂ
Company’s options granted on 3 October 2006 = E B ZBEEGTET 2
under the Scheme held by employees (including E%f @iﬁif$) e EK;D\ 2k
directors) and movement in such holdings during BHEFERNFAZES) :
the year:
Number of share options
BREZE
Outstanding at Outstanding at Outstanding at
1 April 2006 31 March 2007 31 March 2008
Exercise RIFERE Granted RIFFLE Cancelled WZFF\E
Category Date of grant price MA—H duringtheyear =A=+—H duringtheyear =A=+—H
g R TEE  MATEHE £ARTHRE EETEZE  FAREHE  HATESE
Directors 3 October 2006
%3 B
+A=H 15.10 — 1,872,000 1,872,000 — 1,872,000
Other employees 3 October 2006
HigS ZTTRE
+A=H 15.10 — 3,456,000 3,456,000 (360,000) 3,096,000
— 5,328,000 5,328,000 (360,000) 4,968,000
The options granted on 3 October 2006 may be RZZBEZERFE+A=ZAK
exercised in accordance with the following terms 2 FERR AT AR ER A & T A9 15
of the Scheme as to: RATHE
(i) 1,676,000 of the options commencing () BM-ZEENF—HF—H
1 January 2008 to 31 December 2010, 2 F-ZFTF+_A=
with vesting period from 3 October 2006 + — B 171# 1,676,000 f%
to 31 December 2007, the fair value B B IR J2 M 1T {5 B
of each option at the date of grant is M- F+A=H
approximately HK$4.13; EETTLFT+ A=
+—B - BREERL
HEAZAFEMBA
4137 7T
(i) 1,826,000 of the options commencing iy AZZEZELF—HA—H
1 January 2009 to 31 December 2010, EZFE-TFF+ZA=
with vesting period from 3 October 2006 4 — B 17 % 1,826,000 %
to 31 December 2008, the fair value B B8 A% e Ko J& JfE 17 {5 A
of each option at the date of grant is H-ZTZE A F+A=H
approximately HK$4.47; and Z-EZN\FT+ A=
+—H - BRELRD
HERAZAFEMGTAE
4478 T R
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29. Share Option Scheme (continued)
(i) Share Option Scheme (Continued)
(b) Share options granted on 3 October 2006
(Continued)

106

(iii)

1,826,000 of the options commencing
1 January 2010 to 31 December 2010,
with vesting period from 3 October 2006
to 31 December 2009, the fair value
of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$4.69.

These fair values were calculated using
Binominal Model. The valuation as at 3 October
2006 was carried out by Janes Lang LaSalle
Sallmanns Limited (formerly known as Sallmanns
(Far East) Limited). The inputs used in the model

were

as follows:

BiRERE (&)
(i) BREEsEE)
b) R-ZEZENFF+A=ZAFT
mIERKE - (&)
iy AZE—ZFTF—H—H
E-FT—ZTF+=-A=
+ — H 77 1£1,826,000 A%
RO B A% A e JE 1T (5 HR
H-ZEZT X FT+H=H
i_%?h¢+ ﬂ_
+—H - BREERH
BE B ZAFEMGA
46978 TT °

ZEAFEAZBEABEXG
H-HE_ZZTF+H=
HezhmEBMERTENE
RAR (AT & RAPCER)
BERAAFTK) - ARETEE
XZBALT :

Closing share price at date of grant BT B z2RHETE HK$ (& 7T) 15.10

Exercise price TE(E HK$ (#7T) 15.10

Expected volatility (note i) ?EHH 5)3‘2 IIE ( W%Ii) 38.00%

Risk-free interest rate (note ii) = (KfaEi) 3.83%

Expected annual dividend yield J’E\Hﬁtiﬂx SN Sl 1.59%

Total option life HBETRI A EH 4.25 years

Notes: M 5E

(i) Expected volatility was determined by using (i) 8 5 3 mg% EE {H1E B H
the historical volatility of the price return of the A AR AT E BT E T —
ordinary shares of the Company over the past £ E’]J_E T& @ 5 5% 18
year from the valuation date. EE o

(i) The risk-free rate interest was based on the yield (i) EEBRFSERUIIEESD
of Exchange Fund Note. RBRESERQEMR -

The estimated total fair value with respect to EHER_ZETERFETHA=1+=

share options granted to directors and employees
on 23 December 2005 and 3 October 2006 was
HK$27,205,000 of which HK$10,886,000 (2007:
HK$7,412,000) was charged to the consolidated
income statement as administrative expenses for the
year ended 31 March 2008.
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29. Share Option Scheme (continued)

(i)

Pre-IPO Scheme

The principal terms of the Pre-IPO Scheme,
approved and amended by written resolutions of the
shareholders of the Company dated 11 September
2003, are similar to the terms of the Scheme except
for the followings:

(@) The subscription price per share was the price
per public offer share on the public offering in
September 2003 (“Offer price”); and

(b) Save for the options which was granted (with
details set out below), no further options would
be offered or granted, as the right to do so
was ended upon the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange.

On 11 September 2003, the Company granted share
options under the Pre-IPO Scheme to the directors
and certain employees of the Group, which entitled
them to subscribe for a total of 75,000,000 shares at
HK$4.17 per share.

Save and except for Gold Best, all other holders
to whom options were granted under the Pre-IPO
Scheme are entitled to exercise (i) up to 50% of the
options granted to him/her at any time after the expiry
of 6 months till the first anniversary of the listing date,
(i) up to 75% of the options granted to him/her of
any time until the second anniversary of the listing
date, (iii) up to 100% of the options granted to him/
her at any time until the third anniversary of the listing
date.

29.

BRERE (&)

(ii)

ERNE- ST g

BT &SN - BR AR SR &
MR (BEARRABRRR _FZT=
FAAT-BBENEERERL
HERAEET) B AT BB RBELL

@ BERAEEHESFR_-_ZTT=
FLhAAHEBEERERAR
RMEEBRONERTEE
ED: &

by BTERLWEBEREGET
X))o RRARAEBITREZ
HEHEFMBERE REAZ
EH L BWEND B AR F
B EB R EH 2 A
I o

RZZEZE=FAA+—8  F27F
BREBEERARMESKRAIRXLEBE
BRETASEEZERETEE @ &
BREMTRERINTEBETHER - &
FH 3R % 75,000,000 & Az 17 °

B T Gold Best 4) * IRIEE X AFE
AT S| EXBRENTAE E i
BERON EMBEmAEARE £
ME—RAFHNTEEZEERE
AR ERIS0% : (DR ETHERES 2
AT &L ERERERERNT%
(IR ETB=ZAFEZRTERS
EERERENI100% °
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29. Share Option Scheme (continued) 29, WERHERTE (&)
(i) Pre-IPO Scheme (Continued) (i) BXRABERAEE (&)
The following table discloses details of the Company’s TEREBEARAATRE X AR ERKA
options under the Pre-IPO Scheme held by employees HE Tz ERE(BEEE)EAEAD
(including directors) and movement in such holdings FEEEEELEREE —_EZE +
during the year ended 31 March 2007: FE=ZA=+—HIEERzZ®
Number of share options
BREZE
Exercise Outstanding at Outstanding at
price 1 April 2006 Exercised 31 March 2007
fTiEE ZEERE during ZEELHE
Category Date of grant HK$ =H=+-—H theyear ZA=+—H
]| BHAH # T oF XFacd ERITHE i K 1T &
Directors 11 September 2003 417 2,866,000 (2,866,000) —
5% —EE=FAAT—H
Employees 11 September 2003 4.17 2,650,000 (2,650,000) —
EE —EE=FAAT—H
Others 11 September 2003 4.17 — — —
HoAth —ET=FAAT—H
5,516,000 (5,516,000) —
In respect of the share options exercised during the BHE-_ZEZLF=A=1+—I#F
year ended 31 March 2007, the weighted average EA - BRETEEE BARQFNN
share price on the dates of exercise is HK$12.31. BEHBRMEMBRA1231ETT -
30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. EAEER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the bank and other borrowings and equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and various reserves.

108

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2007/08 Annual Report

AEEERHERAUBRASENER
AREREXER YEAREEAAR
L REEREARERSER - A%
ENBEERREFEEF

AEENEXAEBBEEEE  ETEE
RITLEMEEARARAEERA
AEEREZ(BREBETRARZ AR
) e



30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

31.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and
share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

30 EAEKRERE (&)

ARREESBXTERIEREE - 1EA
W —3D  EFHEEBEEAKA N
FEZBEREEANRR - BEZEEN
B ASESBRBIRMARE - BTH
% K B B A% (0 LA KR B AT ¥ B sk HE [ 3R (B
T E B AR -

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31 MHIR
(a) Categories of financial instruments () MBIAEE
2008 2007
—EFE)N\E —TTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Financial assets H%EE
Fair value through profit or loss BAEEZ A TFE 25,224 42,310
Loans and receivables B & EWGRIE
(including cash and cash (BRERAeEIEEE
equivalents) E") 2,995,999 1,423,523
Financial liabilities HEEE
Fair value through profit or loss BHNHEBE 2 ATE 147,102 12,104
Derivatives under hedge accounting ezt T2 TET A 207,749 —
Amortised cost B SH R R 8,294,195 3,066,896

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, amounts due from associates,
amount due from a related company, derivative
financial instruments, restricted bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables and
bank and other borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

(b) ¥ EEREREHEMRBR

AEENTIEMBTABRERER
B 50 N HE A EUGRIR - R Uk B
BARKIE  BE—REBERFK
BTEMBIE - EREIRTF
R RITHERERE  BHESK
R HE A A IR R IRTT R E A
B8 - MBETANFIBRARMMNE
BT - EREVBTEEENER
BEMSER(E%RR R EE
) EERRERDESRAR -
40 fA] & A0 5% T R B B ISR & 51 a0
T-EREEELERZTAR
AR MEE R EE N
i
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market Risk

110

(b)

(i)

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk management

The Group has foreign currency transactions,
which expose the Group to market risk arising
from changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group currently has a policy to hedge its long-
term foreign currency exposure on the US$
borrowings. However, management will monitor
other foreign currency exposure closely and
consider the use of hedging instruments when
the need arises.

31.

MBIR
(b) HMABEREEBHRBK (&)
T 15 B B
() EERER
SN [ en i 3R

AEBGEEINER S ©F
&= B 78 A& IS TE R 2 B g
BHMERR - NEEE 8
KRB RERARELEER
i RHEMNE R - A
EEE TR E M
B - 3 E R % B R E A
Hih T HE o

At the balance sheet dates, the carrying amounts REFER  NEENBE@ESE
of the Group’s significant monetary assets, BRENNEEBUINGE
monetary liabilities and derivative financial BITENEZEEEE &
instruments denominated in currencies other BEBERITEVHETEME
than the functional currency of the relevant HEDT :
group entities are as follows:
Monetary assets: SEREE
2008 2007
—EF)N\E —ETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
RMB AR 937,343 401,181
uss E7T 482,805 234,707
EUR B T 51,628 27,875
GBP S 13,966 2,437
JPY Hot 12,280 65,665
Monetary liabilities: TRAE
2008 2007
—EENE —TTEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FHT
RMB AR 663,028 315,797
us$ ET 1,018,952 321,390
EUR BL T 33,223 80,000
JPY Ht 85,681 12,857
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(b)

(i)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. MMBIR (&)
Financial risk management objectives and (b) MBEAREEBMRBK (&)
policies (Continued)
Market Risk (Continued) i E K ()
Currency risk (Continued) () EEEE(E)
Derivative financial instruments: PTHEETA
2008 2007
ZEFE)N\EF —TTLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Assets: EE :
us$ ETT 18,791 32,036
EUR Bx T 1,236 7,341
GBP R 680 1,686
JPY Ht — 1,247
Liabilities: =L
uss ey 179,258 —
EUR BT — 126
GBP R 1,326 —
JPY H7t — 3,663
Sensitivity analysis BRE DI

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation
of RMB, EUR, GBP and JPY. As HKS$, the
functional currency of the relevant group
entities, is pegged with US$, the Group's
currency risk in relation to the above US$
monetary assets/liabilities is expected to be
minimal.

AEBTEXARE K
T RERATHRY Y
2 -\ (RAR IR
B ETTHE  BI AR
EEHLXTEREE/
BENEERREN

111

EIEHFRAT 2007/08 F3;



=1 A\
Ny

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BAFE R AR MY RE
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market Risk (Continued)

112

(b)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following tables details the Group's
sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in
the functional currency of the relevant group
entities against the relevant foreign currencies
to the extent that the exposures have not been
hedged. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items
and derivative financial instruments and adjusts
their translation or fair value in the case of
the derivative financial instruments at the year
ended for a 5% change in foreign currency

31.

MBIR (&)

(b) HAT5EMREREBMRBIR(E)
W i% Bk ()
() EEERE(E)

BREE D (E)

SR FE AL AN & B 3 A
BRBROBERT  BrtiYs
BEBRER2MEEE L
F K T BE5% B 8B E ° 5%
AHANREZEE A BER
SN [ B B R A B SRR JE Lt
X ATEERIINEEERD
AR BE B B {E H A RT(S o
BREE DN R BN
STEMARENEEEE KT
EBMETAR  TREEBH
BSTEBBETEEXR G A
B AR MM fE K K)5%
BE) - FLMEET  EH
AEBEER 2N ER HI
®E BT [E5% » A A58 0,

rates. On this basis, there will be an increase/ D RZIRR -
decrease in profit where the functional currency
of the relevant group entities weaken against
the foreign currencies by 5%, and vice versa.
Monetary assets and liabilities: THEEKBE
2008 2007
—EFN\E —ETLF
Increase Increase
(decrease) (decrease) in
in profit profit
Z F 3 i 2 A3 N
(i ) OR2)
HK$°000 HK$'000
Ti#&T FHET
RMB AR 13,716 4,269
EUR BX T 920 (2,606)
GBP REE 698 122
JPY Ht (3,670) 2,640
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. MBIAHE)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MBEAREEBMRBK (&)
policies (Continued)
Market Risk (Continued) 5 AR (&)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) () E¥ERE(E)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) FREDM (B
Derivative financial instruments: TTEMBTA
2008 2007
—EFEN\E ZTTLEF
Increase Increase
(decrease) (decrease) in
in profit profit
L FI3E fn 2 FI3E 0
(R ) OR )
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
EUR & T 1,232 3,694
GBP B gE (1,616) 2,181
JPY BT — (70)
(i) Interest rate risk (i) FIEER
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rEBEREBEHAESEE
rate risk in relation to fixed-rate borrowings. MAFEMNERR - N&E
The Group currently does not have a fair value B A A A A 2K R b
interest rate risk hedging policy. However, K o AT - EEEER
management monitors fair value interest rate ANFEERERRE - 38R Y%
exposure and will consider hedging significant EREZEREPEANATE
fair value interest rate exposure should the need FIE BB
arise.
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest AEBDERERBZESR
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank THEABREENHESREN
balances and borrowings. It is the Group’s policy KR o ANEBRBE AR
to keep its borrowings at fixed rate of interests SHEBUAELSFE UK
so as to minimise the cash flow interest rate risk. WemENERRRERK
In order to achieve this result, the Group entered Ko Bt XEBTUET
into certain interest rate swaps to partially hedge Pl EAGRITEEMNZ
against its exposures to variable interest- ERBEETHSE - % F
rate of bank borrowings. The critical terms of FI) 2= 157 HA B Z K {65 5K B 30
these interest rate swaps are similar to those of BENBRIBU  ZEFE
hedged borrowings. These interest rate swaps HHAEEREREHRITA
are designated as effective hedging instruments WERE R ERE ©

and hedge accounting is used.
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 #Z=—ZLZENF=H=1—HILFEZ

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. MBIRE)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HHEABREEBMNMEBR (&)

policies (Continued)

Market Risk (Continued) 5 E K (&)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued) (i)  FIEE (&)
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DI
The sensitivity analysis below has been T A BURE D T IRIBR A
determined based on the exposure to interest EAFMTERTETIANT
rates for both non-derivative and derivative ERBETE - $ZERITHE
instruments at the balance sheet date. For BREE EREFEBRE
variable-rate bank balances and borrowings, to BEWIRBERTEHF 5
the extent that they are not hedged by effective MEBEEREERRENEE
instruments, the analysis is prepared assuming EBERFERNHER/RENIM
the amount of asset and liability outstanding #m B4 o 50 £ B3 0 3R
at the balance sheet date was outstanding for REAMNEEZEEABER
the whole year. A 50 basis points increase or ) 2= [, B BF £R R B SR E B
decrease in interest rate is used when reporting - REEEMRMNENSGIE
interest rate risk internally to key management A Re F B AT -

personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

For non-derivative instruments, if interest rate RETETEMS @ i F =K
had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all # 8 50 E 2w BT A
other variables were held constant, the Group’s Hin B/ T K&
profit for the year ended 31 March 2008 would BE_ZTZN\F=A=+—
decrease/increase by HK$20,413,000 (2007: BItEERNAF&G®KD 158
decrease/increase by HK$9,573,000). AN20,413,0008 T ( ZEE +
F R D4 p09,573,000
JT) °

For derivative financial instruments, the MOTETBFTEMmS * AT
sensitivity analysis below has been determined BRERED T IIBREZAE L
assuming that interest rate had been 50 basis 50 & % 2h M BT A L fth B B4
points higher and all other variables were held BAE  HEAEEZF R
constant, the impact on the Group’s profit and B UEEAREBE

equity, and vice versa. R E o
Increase Increase
in profit in equity
B 7 38 A0 HE 25 38 A0
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAETT FHET
At 31 March 2008 —EENE=ZRA=+—H 5,657 30,417
At 31 March 2007 —EE+F=H=+—H 9,170 —
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2008, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated balance sheet.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual debt at each balance sheet date to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

Credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks with
high credit ratings, the Group does not have any
other significant concentration of credit risk. Trade
receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical
areas.

31.

MBIR (&)

(b)

MEHERKREE B RER (&)

ERAR
R-ZEN\F=A=+—0 &%
B B ¥ F 75 oK B R 17 B AE T
BB ANESEERRKE K
AREBBEERIINSEHRY
BEENREME -

REEREEERR  AREERE
BEZE-HMABRBERFERSE
EERMAREMEERER - BR
sl MERRIIRETE - 1
S ARBEEE ST HEHNZE
AEH 2K E 5 - AR E
EWEEHERCHRERBE - 5
- EER/AKEZEERRD
RRBD e

BRI REREEFRE
BHALSREENRZRT  BRD
B2 RERBRAR -

BERRZHASEEFTRZR
TernBEeFEETEERR
Sh AEEMERHEFREMBELR
SHEERR - BREZEXERE
REXF REZETERMER
1 o
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EENF=ZA=+—HIFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

116

(b)

31. MBIAE)

Financial risk management objectives and (b) FABREEREERMRBR(E)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk iﬁiﬂiﬁﬁﬂl‘ﬁ
In management of the liquidity risk, the Group RERRBE AR  AEH
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash Eﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%i%ﬁ$&%
equivalents deemed adequate by management to BRHEDS  URBRERSRER
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the BRERE RBESFEYKFE -
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining T%% HIgEAEB S EBESR T
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. For AMFIEA - MIETAESHEBT
non-derivative financial liabilities, the tables have been =  TEIIBEAEFEEZSER
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of FHER S BERGEERS
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which HEEY - TREBFEINERAS
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes HERE o
both interest and principal cash flows.
For derivative instruments settle on a net basis, BRFRBEENTETANKRER
undiscounted net cash flows are presented. Whereas RenBFHE2% - REEEED
they require gross settlement, the undiscounted gross PMETEMRBBERARED
inflow and outflow on these derivatives are shown on BN TRE -
the table.
Liquidity and interest risk tables TEB) & B R Fl 3 B g 2%
Weighted Carrying
average Total amount at
effective undiscounted 31 March 2008
interest rate Less than 3 months to cash flows  RZFFNE
BRAE 1 month 1-3 months 1 year 1-5years  Over 5 years #F#RE ZA=t+-H
METHY Si-fA -2 =EAE-% -5 b ohiE3 HEGH ZKEfE
% HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS'000
ARl Téx Fax TEn TEr FEx TEn TER
2008 k- £V
Non-derivative FEHMBAR
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables TR R E 708 - 60,767 976,219 156,365 - - 1,193,351 1,193,351
Borrowings %g
— fixed rate 8 6.68 = = = = 1,201,009 1,241,009 776,800
— variable rate 28 350 1,831,529 438436 96,738 4,511,266 = 6,877,969 6,324,044
189229 1,414,655 253,103 4,511,266 1,241,009 9312329 8,294,195
Derivatives 418
— net settlement -BELK
Interest rate swaps GiES - 19,558 58,304 208,075 - 285,937 174,267
Currency structured BREMEBIA
instruments 1,397 65,483 46,847 = = 13721 113,72
1,397 85,041 105,151 208,075 = 399,664 287,99
Derivatives fI£I8
— gross settlement -aRzk
Cross currency interest RNEEFH RS
rate swaps
— inflow —A - = (#2267) (194,437) 73018 (1,109718) (947,068)
— autflow - = = B 207,486 983,689 1,234,397 1013925
= = 955 13,049 10,675 124,679 66,857
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

(b)

(c)

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued)

31. MBIAHE)
(b) MBEREEBNRBK(E)

REBEEERE(F)
HREBED R ERBREK (B

Carrying
Weighted Total amount at
average effective undiscounted 31 March 2007
interest rate Less than 3 months to ahflows RZEEtfE
ERAE 1 month 1-3 months 1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years #fERe ZA=t-R
METHH SR—EA -E=fA ZfRE-% —£1% BBRE BB 2EEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AAlt TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TEL TAL
2007 5%tk
Non-derivative FiEHBAR
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  ERTRHREMFE - 242,99 369,380 168,991 - - 781,170 781,170
Bank overdraft RTEX 4.09 12,045 - — — - 12,045 12,045
Borrowings BE
— fixed rate TR 3.4 16,621 - - - - 16,621 16,621
— variable rate EE 4.09 596,829 117,270 236,336 1,192,713 - 2,143,148 2,051,696
Convertible bonds ABRES 6.73 - - - 259,211 - 259,211 205,364
867,794 487,150 405,327 1,451,924 — 3,212,195 3,066,896
Derivatives fi£I8
— net settlement -BELK
Interest rate swaps fikS ki — - 8312 — — 8312 8312
Currency structured ERUEETIA
instruments — 3,663 126 — — 3,789 3,789
= 3,663 8,438 - - 12,101 12,101
Fair Value (0 =»TE
The fair values of financial assets and financial MBEERVBEBE LA TER

liabilities are determined as follows:

ATHAERE :

the fair values of derivative financial instruments
are calculated using discounted cash flow
analysis based on the applicable yield curves
of interest rates and foreign exchange rates
as determined by counterparty financial
institutions.

the fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative financial
instruments) are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions.

« EMBIAZATEDE
9 F 75 5 5 14 1 5T 2 o
T i B 55 2 PR B 4
RECHRRSRES A
ERIHE -

s WBEELVBAGB(TERE
TEMBTR) 2 A FERE
AREBEANKBAHE
MRBMHEIHBHZITH
Rengnth REEFH -

EERRBBHKNARGENT

The directors consider the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial

statements approximate their fair values.

ZEEEEEAFEMES -

BERCELMBEERYBAE
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 #Z—=—ZTZNF=HA=+—HI-FE

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 322 HEKHBLA

On 24 August 2007, the Group and Well Boom 7N £ B B Gold Best#) & & [ff B 1~ RIEARE
International Limited (“Well Boom”), a wholly owned BEARAE(TERDR_FFLFN
subsidiary of Gold Best, entered into a subscription A+ B ERERERFSGLE] LR
agreement (the “Agreement”) in respect of investment in ek ([ZWhak])) - RIFZ W - AKE
FSGL by Well Boom. Pursuant to the Agreement, the Group K AERE & 9 5l R HE90 Ak K810 A FSGLER
and Well Boom subscribed for 90 and 810 of new shares in B o TERKIE - REBNFSGLZ BER#ER
FSGL, respectively. Upon completion, the Group’s effective B 100% & 8 £19% - MFSGL# B & A&
interest in FSGL was diluted from 100% to 19% and FSGL KECZHMERR - ZMEABRRR_-F
becomes an associate of the Group. The Agreement was ZLEANAZFT AR (R=EKBH) E
approved by shareholders in the extraordinary general BREFRNAE L& - HREFKITER
meeting on 28 September 2007, which is also the Ajﬁ&i& TRAHEEE MEE#E
completion date. As the demmed disposal is made indirectly SEENR R E RS AES 2 R
to the ultimate holding company, gain on deemed disposal EOER - BRULET AR -

due to the dilution of interest is credited to equity as it is
regarded as contribution from equity participant.

The consolidated net liabilities of FSGL and its subsidiary at FSGLE BB ARIRNEE BHNGESE &
the date of disposal were as follows: BFEAT

28 September 2007

—ETLEE
AB=+/\H
HK$'000
FHT
NET LIABILITIES DISPOSED OF HERR
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB k& 21,139
Prepaid lease payments TN E KA 77,758
Inventories FE 5,123
Other receivables H A fE W 5k IR 43,546
Amounts due from related companies FEWE FEE R B I8 39
Bank balances and cash RITER KRS 29,862
Other payables H b f& 5 308 (452)
Amount due to a related company FET B B E R R RIE (189,566)
(12,551)

Transferred to interest in an associate HEE-—FEBEAR R (1)
Gain on deemed disposal, accounted for RIEHE 2155 -

as deemed capital contribution HIEEE AR (12,552)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: EEEA RS RLFE

Cash consideration RERE =

Bank balances and cash disposed of HERTEBRIES 29,862

29,862
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33. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 33. BREHAOZH
The Group as lessee SEERKEA
At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments REER  AEBERETATREN T
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable EEFEEMONARENNRERS
operating leases in respect of land and buildings, which fall L
due as follows:
2008 2007
—EEN\E —ETLEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FET
Within one year —F R 1,736 67,894
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_FEEZEEFRENR
(BEEREMF) 109,562 116,750
After five years FRFIR 392,464 658,048
503,762 842,692
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KEHeEAEER T REETRA
Group for lands and certain of its office properties. For EMERMNAS - THMBEHFEH=
lands, leases are negotiated for an average term of twenty TF HREFEN  c HAEWHED
years and rentals are negotiated every year. For office HEFEH —F  HAHESTE -
properties, leases are negotiated for an average term of one
year with fixed rentals.
The Group as lessor SEEEAHEAN
At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted REEH  AEBEEBEFAFREER
with tenants for the use of the Group’s pipelines with the FTHEENMSEHASLET -
following future minimum lease payments:
2008 2007
—EF)N\E —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ET FAET
Within one year —FR 390 390
In the second to fifth year inclusive EFE_FEEFRFNR
(BEEREMSF) 1,560 1,560
After five years ERF% 780 1,170
2,730 3,120

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
tenants for the use of the Group’s pipelines. Leases are
negotiated for an average term of ten years with fixed
rentals.

MERSERAF A AAEBNE SR
e RETHTE HRAST
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 #Z—=—ZTZNF=HA=+—HI-FE

34. COMMITMENTS 34. RIE
2008 2007
—EE)N\E ZETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ERT FHT
Expenditures contracted for but not MEFTHERR
provided in the consolidated e B EmER R
financial statements in respect of BENEARAX :
capital expenditure:
— property, plant and equipment —BEVE  BWEIKXE 2,648,229 2,109,652
— land use rights — + b {sF FA #E 21,821 68,148
2,670,050 2,177,800

35. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS

(a) Connected and related party transactions (a)
Significant transactions with connected and related

parties during the year are as follows:

35. HEAATHER S REHK

HEALHESS
Ep o REEALRTHNEARS
mF

2008 2007
—EFN\E —ETEF
Name of party Nature of transactions HK$'000 HK$'000
FEALTZSE XHHHE TExT FET
Lee & Man Industrial Manufacturing Finished goods sold by the Group
EXEX SEHERKM 143,941 97,724
Steam sold by the Group
SEHEER 1,556 1,560
Lee & Man Paper Products Limited Licence fee paid by the Group
(Note i) SEENFARE
B mABRAR (M) 586 878
Well Boom Capital contribution arising from
disposal of subsidiaries (Note ii)
HHEMBRARMEEZ
BARERK (B &) 12,552 —
Notes: Bt

(i) Lee & Man Paper Products Limited is beneficially
owned by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a director of the

Company.

(i) Details of the disposal of subsidiaries to Well Boom, a
fellow subsidiary of the Company, during the year are

t out in note 32.
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35. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Connected and related party balances

36.

(c)

Details of outstanding balances with connected and
related parties are set out in notes 19 and 20.

Compensation of key management personnel
The remunerations of the directors and other

85"

HEAALTHRER S RER (H)

(b) FBAERBERALESR
MERBBEAALTRRGEHRFRD
IR E19K%20 -

(0 FTELEEEHSHMH
EENHEMTEEBEKRERSF

members of key management during the year were as NZBemT -
follows:
2008 2007
—EFN\E —TTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Short-term benefits =B 10,490 8,421
Post-employment benefits RIRET 72 60
Share-based payments P& ¥ > 5K E 2,974 3,366
13,536 11,847
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 36. & &M

At 31 March 2007, bills receivables of HK$55,751,000 were
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group
and the pledge was released during the year ended 31
March 2008.

R-ZTETZL+FE=A=+—H8 EBKREX
55,751,000 T2 TAER - ERE T
AEERRITHABNER  ZFHEIF
EREBE_ZETZNF=ZA=1+T—HIEF

RRRER »
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 #Z—=—ZTZNF=HA=+—HI-FE

37. Balance Sheet of the Company
The summarised balance sheet of the Company as at 31
March 2008 and 31 March 2007 are as follows:
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37.

EAREBEEER

HE_ZTZN\F=ZA=+—BR_ZET
+tFE=RA=+—HEEBBXRRLEN

T
2008 2007
ZEE)N\E R F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#T FABIT
Investments in subsidiaries NI E= 637,977 637,977
Other receivables E 1th pE W 5008 16,935 5,278
Amounts due from subsidiaries e U BT B~ B F 08 8,184,065 5,456,477
Bank balances R1T A R 2,665 2,431
Total assets BEE 8,841,642 6,102,163
Derivative financial instruments PTEMKETA 207,749 3
Other payables H A FE A 5RI8 17,344 3,100
Unsecured bank borrowings EERRITEE 3,746,800 1,000,000
Convertible bonds Al ]RR E S - 205,364
Total liabilities AR 3,971,893 1,208,467
4,869,749 4,893,696
Share capital A% 113,738 111,948
Reserves (Note) EX= NS 4,756,011 4,781,748
Total equity RS 4,869,749 4,893,696




37. Balance Sheet of the Company (Continued)

37. APNREEGER (&)

Note: B 5 :
Reserves &
Convertible
bonds
equity Share
Share reserve options Hedging Special Retained
premium  FIH&RE (& 3% reserve reserve reserve profits Total
Bt ik (8 BafE BREMKE Eapal A Bt BERF @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FTHT FHT FTHx FHExT FHET THT
At 1 April 2006 —ZZRFMA—H 1,863,819 60,256 1,573 - 634,977 3,709 2,564,334
Profit for the year FREF = = = = = 393,942 393,942
Total recognised income and ~ FRBHER 2 KA K
expenses for the year X s = = - - - 393,942 393,942
Exercise of share options EERE 25,531 = (561) = = = 24,970
Conversion of convertible AR ES R
bonds 782,729 (47,921) - - - - 734,808
Placing of new shares (3 1,451,823 - - - - - 1,451,823
Equity-settled share based fR 2 45 B R L 1
payments #E - - 7,412 - - - 7,412
Dividends paid (note 11) RS (HEE11) - - - = = (395,541) (395,541)
At 31 March 2007 —ZT+E=R
=+-—H 4,123,902 12,335 8,424 - 634,977 2,110 4,781,748
Loss on cash flow hedges BeHwER = = = (183,067) - - (183,067)
Profit for the year FRBF = = = - - 342,371 342,371
Total recognised income and ~ FREERZ KA K
expenses for the year X st = = - (183,067) - 342,371 159,304
Exercise of share options TR 10,962 = (3,402) = = = 7,560
Conversion of convertible ABRES E R
bonds 218,081 (12,335) - - - - 205,746
Equity-settled share based AR 28 45 IR A
payments HIE - - 10,886 - - - 10,886
Dividends paid (note 11) &8 (HiEE11) - - - - - (409,233) (409,233)
At 31 March 2008 —ZTENF=R
==F 4,352,945 - 15,908 (183,067) 634,977 (64,752) 4,756,011

The special reserve of the Company represents the
difference between the aggregate net assets of the
subsidiaries acquired by the Company pursuant to the
corporate reorganisation in September 2003 and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisition.

RRABNFERRBEARAR_TZT=FN
ABEHEREMSOMBRARNEEFERER
EARRBEAWEFHMEITHARA KD
E{EMEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 #Z—=—ZTZNF=HA=+—HI-FE

37. Balance Sheet of the Company (continued)

124

At 31 March 2008, the Company'’s reserves available for
distribution to its shareholders comprise share premium,
special reserve and retained profits which in aggregate
amounted to approximately HK$4,923,170,000 (2007:
HK$4,760,989,000). Under the Companies Law (2007
Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
of the Company is available for paying distributions or
dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of its
Memorandum and Articles of Association and provided
that immediately following the payment of distributions or
dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. In accordance with
the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends shall be
payable out of the profits or other reserves, including the
share premium account, of the Company.
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37.

REERER(E)
AEAELIRTRENREE RS
EhaE HRRERBE TR
R-_EZE NF=ZA=Z1+—HHNEHE
49 /4,923,170,000 8 Tt ( — T ZT X F ¢
4,760,989,000/8 L) - RIEH S A E A A
E(ZEZTEFBER) ERFEGRARE
BERRNARMAUNEET  AQEH
& 193 % (& 7] B 1 M) AR 3R 9 Ik 3k 32 1+ A% ER
fE B - METE B ST 2R AR B A&
AARNABERNERSEBBARR N
FEMEE - REAARMNAGAE -
B% B 78 AR R B /) B R 8 H 7 1 B
- BERGRERE -
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38. Principal Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, as at 31

38.

TEME LA
AATEEHBATR-FE/NE=A

March 2008 and 31 March 2007, are as follows: =t BER-_EZTELHFEF=ZA=+—HH
HEDT :
Place of Nominal value
incorporation/ of issued and
establishment/ fully paid share
registration and  capital/registered
operations capital : . hin held by the C Principal
Name of subsidiary AMBL/ KL/ BRITREEHEA roportion ownership interest held by the Company activities
W 2 R A TR AMREENY EMBEAEE ANRBHRBHFELE TEXH
Directly Indirectly
Ei kS
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEE\E | ZZ5LF | ZEENF | —TELF
Able Advance British Virgin Ordinary shares 100% 100% - - Investment holding
International Limited Islands (Note i) - US$4 RERR
EBRAES TER-4%T
(FsED)
Lee & Man Industries British Virgin Ordinary share - = 100% 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited Islands (Note i) - US$1 REER
EERAES LR -1ET
(FigzE i)
Evergreen Trading Malaysia Ordinary shares - = 100% 100%  Procurement of raw
Company Limited BRA SR -Uss$2 materials
TER-2%T R RE
Lee Kwok (Macao Macau MOP100,000 - - 100% 100%  Procurement of raw
Commercial Offshore) 2P JRF9%#100,0007T materials
Trading Limited RERR
HE CRPIBEER 2
R%)ESERAR
Wang Kei (Macao Macau MOP100,000 - - 100% 100%  Export trading of
Commercial Offshore) P9 RPI#100,0007T paper
Trading Limited HREANES
RECRPBEFAE
%) E5ER DA
RSB X ERRA R PRC (note ii) Registered capital - - - 100% 100%  Manufacturing and
NG| F B (B ot i) US$156,480,000 trading of paper
(Dongguan Lee & Man FMEA- EHEERES
Paper Factory Co., Ltd.) 156,480,000
eV
EREXERFRAR  PRC (noteii) Registered capital - - - 100% 100%  Manufacturing and
(Guangdong Lee & Man "R B ([ &t i) US$480,000,000 trading of paper
Paper Manufacturing AR EREERES
Limited) 480,000,000
=Y
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 #Z—=—ZTZNF=HA=+—HI-FE

38. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/
registration and

Nominal value

of issued and
fully paid share
capital/registered

38. FEMBRR (&)

operations capital . . Principal
P t hip interest held by the C
Name of subsidiary HMKEL KL/ EBRTEHERA R activities
W2 R AR AR EENY EMBEAEE ANABAEGHETELE TEXH
Directly Indirectly
=R LFE3
2008 2007 2008 2007
“EENE | —ETLFE | ZEEN\E | ZTTLE
IHEGERERRE  PRC (note i) Registered capital - - - 100% 100%  Manufacturing and
(Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper ~ H Bl ( FizE i) US$250,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing A & AR~ BHREERES
Company Limited) 250,000,000
ey
EFEEKERRA  PRC (noteii) Registered capital - - - 100% 100%  Manufacturing and
(Chongging Lee & Man B (P&t i) US$123,180,000 trading of paper
Paper Manufacturing A & AR~ BEEERES
Limited) 123,180,000
eIV
Evergreen Pulp Inc. United States Ordinary shares - - - 100% 100%  Manufacturing and
of America US$1,000 trading of pulp
e LAk - 1,000 AEEERES
ET
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper  Vietnam US$10,113,794 - - 90% - Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited 10,113,794 %7t trading of paper
EREERES
Vietnam Lee & Man Pulp ~ Vietnam US$4,250,000 - - 90% - Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited 8 4,250,000 £ 7T trading of pulp
AREERES
Notes: B EE -
()  These companies operate in Hong Kong. () ZERRINRBHEEE -
(i)  These companies are foreign investment enterprises iy ZERRAARPBKLZIEKRE R
established in the PRC. = o
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38. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
at the end of the year, or at any time during the year.

39. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT

On 14 March 2008, Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper
Manufacturing Company Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an electricity
services agreement and a steam services agreement (the
“Services Agreements”) with Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical
Limited. Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited is a wholly
owned subsidiary of Lee & Man Holding Limited, a listed
company beneficially owned by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick,
a director of the Company.

The entering into the Services Agreements was approved by
the Board on 11 March 2008 and the Services Agreements
were approved by shareholders in the extraordinary general
meeting held on 25 April 2008. The Services Agreements
are for a term of two years and eight months commencing
from 1 May 2008 till 31 December 2010.

38.

39.

ITEMBLR (&)

ERIHBEETARIEFEAEHE
BAEERABENARAMBLE - &
ERBNEHEMHBRARNFESE
AHFEBRILE  BARBINHEZEEH -

RESBXFRAEMER SHEAQF
BMEEFAREENELKES

HMERKEHR
RZFBTNF=ZATHEHA ITHEX
ERERAR(ARA—RE2EMBA
A)ETHEXMTAER AR ZESE
PR 795 199 o e 2% SRUBR 75 1 ok ([ % 55 IR %5 163
&) IHRENXETARARAA/LETA
AEXEEARAR(AAXRBAERSF
EREERESFEANNEZENBA
g o

RERBBAOTTEEFRN-2T
NEZA+-BHE - ZERIE B
BER =T /\FMA=+EB BT
BERRIAE B o RERI BHME
NER A-FBNFEA-BRE"
T-FF+-A=+—AL-
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FEIBBE

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZRA=1+—-HLEE

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
—ZT|ME “ZThE —TTRE s —EE)\%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET AT THT THET TER
RESULTS ES
Revenue WA 1,701,055 2,771,423 3,778,054 5,160,552 8,996,113
Profit before tax BB AT 2 A 290,128 423,436 625,586 1,041,005 1,499,146
Income tax expense FEHAL (5,250) (5,693) (25,558) (30,894) (68,026)
Profit for the year FEAF 284,878 417,743 600,028 1,010,111 1,431,120
Attributable to: FE1h:
Equity holders of the Company NEERFAA 284,878 417,743 600,028 1,010,204 1,441,329
Minority interests DR - = = (93) (10,209)
284,878 417,743 600,028 1,010,111 1,431,120
At 31 March
W=ZB=+—H
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
—ETNE “ETRE —EER ZEERLEF —EE)\%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET AT THET TERT
ASSETS, LIABILITIES BE BERER
AND EQUITY
Total assets BEMRE 3,409,123 4,113,393 5,774,016 9,845,200 17,014,989
Total liabilities BEREE (1,505,725) (1,071,932) (2,196,972) (3,274,499) (8,980,680)
1,903,398 3,041,461 3,577,044 6,570,701 8,034,309
Equity attributable to equity NEEHREEA
holders of the Company ey 1,903,398 3,041,461 3,577,044 6,570,794 8,044,611
Minority interests LR - = = (93) (10,302)
Total equity B 1,903,398 3,041,461 3,577,044 6,570,701 8,034,309

The Company was incorporated and registered as an AAGTRZZEE=FAA=-+—HRHEH
exempted company in the Cayman Islands on 21 May SafMKAKZERERREREAGF  WHER/E
2003 and became the holding company of the Groupasa BEEEMR_TT=FNLAKR/EEEZE
result of a group reorganisation in September 2003. The KRAF - MBRHEDNEARF B KT E W
financial summary has been presented on the basis that MRBE—BEEAKREZERAGNEEMER -
the Company had been the holding company of the Group

from the beginning of the earliest period presented.
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Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited

5th Floor, Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Tel: 2319 9889 Fax: 2319 9393

HOGER A R AR

F v L BRI 61 -6 3R FI| 4 A B 5 P i
%55 2319 9889  {#HE: 2319 9393
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